
Page 1 of 5 
 

 

 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING & AGENDA 
 

Board of Museums and History  
 

Thursday, March 9, 2023 at 8 AM 
 

Meeting Location 
The meeting will  be held at the Nevada State Museum in Carson City, 600 N. Carson St., and via Zoom 
conference, accessible via electronic devices (certain cell phones, iPads, and computers) connected to 
the internet with listening and microphone capabilities. Video camera capability will also allow users to 
watch others in the meeting who are also using a video camera.  
 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84964087257?pwd=aDUxRWYxRzZxQVIvTTVieVlBdHh1dz09 
 
Meeting ID: 849 6408 7257 
Passcode: 657410 
 
Dial by your location 
        +1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose) 
Meeting ID: 849 6408 7257 
Passcode: 657410 
 
Zoom conference is open and accessible to the public using capable electronic devices. 
 
+ = ASSOCIATED REPORTS AND DOCUMENTS IN BOARD MATERIALS 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
• Action may be taken on those items denoted “For possible action.” 
• Public comment will be allowed after discussion of each action item on the agenda but before 
voting on the item. Because of time considerations, the period for public comment may be limited to 3 
minutes at the discretion of the chair, and speakers are urged to avoid repetition of comments made 
by previous speakers. 
• Meetings are audio-recorded and transcribed as part of the public record. Speakers must identify 
themselves before speaking. 
 
1. Call for the start of the recording of the meeting. Chair of Nevada Board of Museums and History 
and staff.  
 
2. Call meeting to order, Board Chair.  
 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84964087257?pwd=aDUxRWYxRzZxQVIvTTVieVlBdHh1dz09


Page 2 of 5 
 

3. Call for confirmation that meeting was properly posted. Board Chair and staff.  
 
4. Call for the roll call of board and determination of quorum. Board Chair and staff.  
 
5. Board announcements and meeting logistics. Board Chair and staff. (Information only). 
 
6. Public comment announcement. Board Chair. Public comment is welcomed by the Board. 
There are three periods of public comment during a meeting of the Nevada Board of Museums and 
history. The first is at the beginning of meeting and at the end of the meeting of the Board. A third 
period of public comment will be allowed after discussion of each action item on the agenda, but 
before voting on the item. Because of time considerations, the period for public comment by each 
speaker may be limited to 3 minutes at the discretion of the Chair, and speakers are urged to avoid 
repetition of comments made by previous speakers. Public comment options may include, without 
limitation, written public comment submitted to the public body via mail or email. Meetings are audio-
recorded and transcribed as part of the public record. Speakers, including board members, must 
identify themselves before speaking. 
 
7.  Public notification. Board Chair. (information only.) Items on the public agenda may be taken out of 
order, and the Board may combine two or more agenda items for consideration and action by the 
Board. In addition, the Board may remove an item from the agenda or delay discussion relating to an 
item on the agenda at any time.  
 
8. Acceptance of minutes. Board Chair and staff (full transcript available at nvmuseums.org). 

a. December 8 and 9, 2022 Board Meeting summary and full transcript (for possible action.) + 
b. February 9, 2023 Membership Committee Meeting minutes (for possible action.) + 

 
9.  Review and confirm dates for Board meetings in 2023 (for possible action.) 

June 8 and 9 in Las Vegas at the NSM, Sept 14 in Ely, December 7 & 8 in Reno at the NHS. 
 
10. Nevada State Historic Preservation Office.  Rebecca Palmer, Administrator (All items are for 
possible action unless otherwise noted.)   

a. SHPO Report + 
b. AB46 update 

    
11. Nevada Department of Tourism and Cultural Affairs -Brenda Scolari, Director.  

a. Department Update 
Public Relations Activities 
Culture Day in the Legislature, March 10 
Governor Recommended Budget Process 
Potential Bill Impacts to Department 

b.  The 82nd (2023) Session of the Nevada Legislature 
Museums BDR 
Proposed Legislation                                                                   

1. SB 186  Revises provisions relating to certain state property. 
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/82nd2023/Bill/9931/Overview   

2. SB 94 Adds criteria for Tribal liaisons positions in the government.  
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/82nd2023/Bill/9713/Overview 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/82nd2023/Bill/9931/Overview
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/82nd2023/Bill/9713/Overview


Page 3 of 5 
 

3. BDR 150 Increase accessibility, particularly for the hearing and sight impaired, and add a 
seat on the Board advocating for the disabled community. (No bill available) 

4. AB 80  Provides support for relocating the Atomic Testing Museum in Las Vegas. 
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/82nd2023/Bill/9660/Overview 
 

 
12. Administrator’s Report. Myron Freedman, DMH Administrator. (Information only, unless noted 
otherwise.)  

a. Administrator Overview  
  b. NAGPRA Quarterly Update.   
  c. Status report of Online Board Manual. (Possible action item.) 

d. East Ely RR Museum update 
  e. Boulder City Railroad Museum update 

1. Plan to increase staffing (information only) 
2. Status of AG Opinion request from the Board. DAG Harry Ward. 

  
13.   Board Policies – (All items listed are for possible action, unless otherwise noted).  

a. Board Policy: Draft -Museum Deaccession policy. Michelle Schmitter “Point Person” (for 
discussion only.) 
b. Board Policy: Draft -Artifact Loan policy Courtney Mooney “Point Person.” (For possible action.)  
c. Board Policy: Board of Museums & History Museum Membership Policy. Anthony Timmons-Chair 
(for possible action.) 
  1. Review and propose edits to the policy (for possible action.) 

2. Review and propose changes to create a single systemwide membership including pricing and 
initial member benefits (for possible action.) 
 

14. Standing Membership Committee (for possible action.)  
     a.  Board Policy – Review. Museums & History Admissions and Train Ride Fee Policy. (For possible 
action.)  

1. Draft of train rental policy for fund raising for State Museum. Myron Freedman, 
Administrator (for possible action.) + 

2. Annual review of proposed fee schedule for all Train Rides, regular and fund raising, for 
fiscal year 2024. Myron Freedman, Administrator. (for possible action.) + 

b. Standing Finance Committee (Robert Ostrovsky chair.) 
1.  Quarterly report by Committee Chair (for discussion only.) 
2. IFC Semi-Annual Report by DMH Administrator (for possible action.) + 
3. Appointment of Michelle Schmitter as member of Board Finance committee. (For possible 

action.)  
4. Set date for Board Finance Committee review: FY 24 (July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024) Museums 

Dedicated Trust Fund (for possible action.)  
c. Standing Museum Store, Jan Peterson, Chair (for possible action unless otherwise 

noted.)                      
       1. Online Museum Store Update. Jan Peterson, Daphne Delon. (for information.)  
       2. Online Store Web 2 Market Contract. Peterson, Daphne Delon (for possible action.) +   
 
 
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/82nd2023/Bill/9660/Overview


Page 4 of 5 
 

15. Q2 Museum Reports (Oct-Dec 2022) 
 a. Lost City Museum Report + 
  1. Request for free admission days (for possible action.) + 
  2. Donation Approval Docent Council $357.73 (for possible action.) + 
  3. Donation Approval Docent Council $375.00 (for possible action.) + 
  4. Donation Approval Caproni Trust $16,666.67 (for possible action.) + 
 b. Nevada State Museum in Las Vegas Report + 
 c. Nevada State Museum in Carson City + 
  1. Custom Sign Service Contract Approval (for possible action.) + 
  2. Science Fair Free Admission Request (for possible action.) + 
  3. Donation Approval Johnson $1,000 (for possible action.) + 
  4. Donation Approval Annual Appeal $12,155 (for possible action) + 
 d. Ely Railroad Depot Museum + 
 e. Nevada State Railroad Museum in Boulder City + 
 f. Nevada State Railroad Museum in Carson City + 
   1. Contract: 4 Concrete LLC (for possible action.) + 
  2. Request for funds towards purchase of forklift (for possible action.) + 
  3. Donation Approval Jones Trust $5,000 (for possible action.) + 

g. Nevada Historical Society Report + 
  1. Herz Contract Approval (for possible action.) + 
   
16.  Private funds budget adjustments-Current year (for possible action.)  

a. Changes approved by the Division Administrator. b. Changes requested from the Board over 
$5,000.  

 
17. Board member comment on non-agendized items (discussion only).  
 
18. Future museum board agenda items (discussion only.) Recommendations by Board members 
regarding topics for future agenda items for the Board can be made under this agenda item. Discussion 
on proposals for future Board items shall be limited to whether such proposed items are within the 
purview of the Board. No discussion regarding the substance of any proposed agenda item shall occur.  
 
19. Public Comment Announcement. Board Chair. (For information only.)   Public comment is 
welcomed by the Board. No action can be taken during the public comment period. Public comment on 
both agenda and non-agenda items is welcome. Because of time considerations, the period for public 
comment by each speaker may be limited to 3 minutes at the discretion of the Chair, and speakers are 
urged to avoid repetition of comments made by previous speakers. Public comment options may 
include, without limitation, written public comment submitted to the public body via mail or email. 
 
20. ADJOURNMENT   
 

 
NOTICE POSTING LOCATIONS 

https://notice.nv.gov 
http://museums.nevadaculture.org 

NEVADA DIVISION OF MUSEUMS & HISTORY, 412 E. Musser St., Suite 2. Carson Street, Carson City 
NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM AND CULTURAL AFFAIRS, 401 N. Carson St., Carson City, Nevada 



Page 5 of 5 
 

STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICE, 901 South Stewart St., Carson City, Nevada 
EAST ELY RAILROAD DEPOT MUSEUM, 1100 Avenue A, Ely, Nevada 

NEVADA HISTORICAL SOCIETY, 1650 North Virginia St., Reno, Nevada 
NEVADA STATE MUSEUM LAS VEGAS, 309 S. Valley View Blvd., Las Vegas, Nevada 

LOST CITY MUSEUM, 721 South Highway 169, Overton, Nevada 
NEVADA STATE MUSEUM, 600 North Carson St., Carson City, Nevada 

NEVADA STATE RAILROAD MUSEUM, 2180 S. Carson St., Carson City, Nevada 
NEVADA STATE RAILROAD MUSEUM, 600 Yucca St., Boulder City, Nevada 

 
The public may acquire this notice and agenda and supporting materials, pursuant to NRS 241.020(2) 

by contacting Deb Budo, Administrative Assistant III, Division of Museums and History, (775) 687-7340 
or via email to dabudo@nevadaculture.orgSupporting documents are available from the Nevada 

Division of Museums and History at 412 E. Musser Street, Suite # 2 Street, Carson City, Nevada 89701. 
 

** We are pleased to make reasonable accommodations for members of the public who are disabled 
and wish to attend the meeting. If special arrangements are necessary, please contact the Nevada 

Division of Museums and History by calling (775) 687- 7340 at least two days in advance of the 
meeting. 

 
 
 
 

 
   

 



 ________________ ________________ 

THE HERITAGE LIVES HERE. ________________________________________ 
 

Meeting Minutes  SUMMARY 
 

BOARD OF MUSEUMS AND HISTORY 
 

Thursday, December 8, 2022, 8:00 AM 
 

Meeting Location 
Bureau of Reclamation Building, 500 Date Street, Boulder City, NV 

 
 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT   BOARD MEMBERS EXCUSED 
Robert Stoldal, Chairman    Mercedes de la Garza   
Michelle Schmitter      E’sha Hoferer 
Dr. Sarah Cowie  
Dr. Doris Dwyer         
Anthony Timmons      
Daniel Markoff 
Robert Ostrovsky      
Jan Petersen       
Seth Schorr 
Courtney Mooney  
 
OTHERS PRESENT 
Myron Freedman, Division of Museums and History, Interim Administrator 
Harry Ward, Attorney General’s Office, Deputy Attorney General 
Christopher McMahon 
Daphne DeLeon, Division of Museums and History, ASO 
Brenda Scolari, Tourism and Cultural Affairs, Director 
Rebecca Palmer 
Robin Reed, Nevada State Historic Preservation Office 
Kirsten Nalley, Public Works 
Sean Pitts 
Francine Burge, Nevada Department of Tourism and Cultural Affairs 
Jill Lagan 
Tracey Sprague 
Anna Camp 
Daniel Thielen, Nevada State Railroad Museum, Carson City, Museum Director 
Hollis Gillespie 
Rachel Delovio  
Catherine Magee, Nevada Historical Society, Reno, Museum Director 



Minutes of Nevada Board of Museums and History  
December 8, 2022 8:00 AM 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 
  
1. The Chair called the meeting to order.  Roll call was taken and confirmed a 

quorum was present and the meeting was posted in accordance with NRS 241.  
(1,2,3,4) 

 
2. The Chair took Item 5, board announcements and meeting logistics. He discussed 

breaks during the meeting, allocating time to tour museums at meetings.  A 
discussion took place.  Bob Ostrovsky noted he had to leave for a while today and 
needed to schedule a time for Morgan Stanley to be at the meeting on the 9th.  
Stoldal noted they would move Ostrovsky’s presentation, board reports from 
finance committee and potential update on fiscal policy to tomorrow morning.  (5) 

 
3. The Chair took Item 6, public comment announcement.  Myron Freedman noted 

he received a request for the board packet in an email, which he put online and 
sent a link to the inquirer.  There was no other public comment.  (6) 

 
4. The Chair took Item 7, public notification.  He noted the report from Morgan 

Stanley may come up on the agenda today but, if so, it will be moved to tomorrow.  
(7) 

 
5. The Chair took Item 8a-d, acceptance of minutes. A discussion took place about 

needing the full transcripts online, rather than just summaries.  Doris Dwyer 
moved to approve the minutes for September 8, 2022.  Sarah Cowie noted one 
correction on her title.  Jan Petersen seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  
Doris Dwyer moved to approve the minutes for September 9, 2022.  A note was 
made that E’sha was not listed as present or absent.  Bob Ostrovsky seconded.  
Motion carried unanimously.  Jan Petersen moved to accept the minutes from the 
October 11, 2022.  Doris Dwyer seconded.  Motion carried unanimously. Jan 
Petersen moved to accept the minutes for November 16, 2022.  Doris Dwyer 
seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  (8a-d) 

 
6. The Chair took Item 9a, calendar 2023 for board meeting. Dates were tentatively 

set for March 9th in Carson City with Cultural Day at the legislature on the 10th, 
budget meeting on June 8th and 9th in Las Vegas, September 14th in Ely, 
December 7th and 8th in Reno.  Jan Petersen made a motion to accept.  Anthony 
Timmons seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  (9a) 

 
7. The Chair to Item 10a-c, State Historic Preservation Office.  A discussion took 

place regarding the two departments, Department of Tourism and Cultural Affairs 
and the Department of Conservation and Natural Resources and their roles and 
regulations.  Rebecca Palmer gave an update on the Nevada State Historic 
Preservation Office and the two action item requests, one on matters relating to 
the Historic Preservation Plan and one on the State Historic Preservation Office.     
A discussion took place regarding her letter.  Anthony Timmons made a motion 



Minutes of Nevada Board of Museums and History  
December 8, 2022 8:00 AM 

Page 3 of 4 

 

that they draft an advisory letter to State Public Works recommending that they 
use the Department of Interior Historical standards and incorporate them into this 
East Ely freight building rehabilitation project.  Sarah Cowie seconded.  Motion 
carried unanimously.  Rebecca Palmer then gave an overview the history of the 
Commission for Cultural Centers and Historic Preservation, the members, plans 
for rehabilitation of El Rancho, CCCHP grant recipients and plans .  (10a-c) 

 
8. The Chair took Item 11a-b, Department of Tourism and Cultural Affairs. Brenda 

Scolari gave an update and review regarding the museum system.   A discussion 
took place.  (11a-b) 

 
9. The Chair took Item 12a-e, administrator’s report.  Myron Freedman gave an 

overview on staffing and museum opening update. He discussed two major CIP 
projects.  Anna Camp gave an overview of her report for NAGPRA quarterly 
update. Dan Thielen gave an update on the loan agreement between California 
and Nevada for trains, status report on updated legal loan agreements.  The Chair 
reviewed the status report on Online Board Manual. (12a-e) 

 
10.   The Chair took Item 13a-f, board policies.  He reviewed the policy review process.   

Jan Petersen gave an update  on existing board policies and procedures on 
museum stores.  She made a motion to approve the board policy as presented on 
September 8, 2022. Doris Dwyer seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  
Michelle Schmitter gave an update on the draft of the museum deaccessioning 
policy and a discussion was held.  Unknown speaker moved to accept the policy.    
Doris Dwyer seconded.  Motion carried with a no vote from Anthony Timmons.  
Courtney Mooney gave a review of the draft artifact loan policy.  After discussion, 
Anthony Timmons moved to table this policy for further input by museum staff and 
directors, consult NRS and bring it forth at the March 9th meeting.   Doris Dwyer 
seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  Chair Stoldal reviewed the admissions 
and train ride fee policy.  Unknown speaker made a motion to accept the policy.  
Courtney Mooney seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  Chair Stoldal 
reviewed special train ride fees recommendations.  Seth Schorr made a motion to 
approve the train ride fees.  Jan Petersen seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  
Chair Stoldal reviewed the museum facilities and equipment.  Anthony Timmons 
made a motion to approve the policy for facilities, fixtures and other properties of 
the division as presented.  Jan Petersen seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  
Chair Stoldal reviewed the fee schedules for train rides for the remainder of fiscal 
year 23.  The Chair made a motion to approve the Nevada State Railroad 
Museum in Carson City, approve Story Time motorcars between January and 
March, the Extravaganza, 2 days in spring, Independence Day for 2 to 4 days in 
July, approve a rate of $10 per ticket for both Boulder City and Carson City, and in 
Boulder City, permission for the Boulder City Bunny Express for 9 days in March 
and April, fee is standard for $10. Also that any fundraising efforts with the train 
tickets, the cap on that ticket would be no more than $50, that we approve the 
Nevada Day, we waive the ticket fee for children who are Nevada Day and that 



Minutes of Nevada Board of Museums and History  
December 8, 2022 8:00 AM 

Page 4 of 4 

 

the music train ride would be up to $50 but only one because of January and June 
of this year.  Dan Markoff seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  (13a-f) 

 
11. The Chair took Item 14a-b, board committee reports.  Daphne DeLeon gave a 

report on the Standing Museum Store.  A discussion took place regarding the 
store’s report, recommendations and funding request.  Jan Petersen made a 
motion to approve the online store funding proposal for the pilot of six months.  
Seth Schorr seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  Seth Schorr gave an update 
on the standing tech committee board minutes and improvement options.  Seth 
Schorr moved to purchase an Owl web conference solution.  Courtney Mooney 
seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.   (14a-b) 

 
12. The Chair adjourned the meeting until tomorrow morning.  
 
     
 
 
 
 
 
  



 ________________ ________________ 

THE HERITAGE LIVES HERE. ________________________________________ 
 
 

Meeting Minutes   
 

BOARD OF MUSEUMS AND HISTORY 
 

Friday, December 9, 2022, 8:00 AM 
 

Meeting Location 
Bureau of Reclamation Building, 500 Date Street, Boulder City, NV 

 
 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT   BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT 
Robert Stoldal, Chairman    Dr. Sarah Cowie, excused  
Michelle Schmitter      Mercedes de la Garza, excused 
Dr. Doris Dwyer     E’sha Hoferer, unexcused    
Anthony Timm     Seth Schorr, excused 
Robert Ostrovsky    
Jan Petersen       
Courtney Mooney  
Daniel Markoff 
 
         
      
OTHERS PRESENT 
Myron Freedman, Division of Museums and History, Administrator 
Harry Ward, Attorney General’s Office, Deputy Attorney General 
Catherine Magee, Nevada Historical Society, Reno, Museum Director 
Daphne DeLeon, Division of Museums and History, ASO 
Daniel Thielen, Nevada State Railroad Museum, Carson City, Museum Director 
Tracey Sprague, Lost City Museum, Overton, Museum Director 
Josh Bonde, Nevada State Museum, Carson City, Museum Director 
Cary Allison 
Hollis Gillespie, Nevada State Museum, Las Vegas, Museum Director 
Christopher MacMahon, Nevada State Railroad Museum, Museum Director 
Todd Moore, Friends of the Nevada State Railroad Museum, President 
Madelyn Pecorino, Nevada State Railroad Museum, Store Manager 
Sean Pitts, East Ely Depot Railroad Museum, Ely, Museum Director 
 
  
 



Minutes of Nevada Board of Museums and History  
December 9, 2022 8:00 AM 

Page 2 of 4 

 

1. The Chair called the meeting to order.  Roll call was taken and confirmed a 
quorum was present and the meeting was posted in accordance with NRS 241.  
(1,2,3,4) 

 
2. The Chair took Item 6, public comment announcement (taken out of order).   

There was no public comment.  (6) 
 
3. The Chair took Item 7, public notification.  He noted one outstanding item from 

yesterday, 14c.  Anthony Timmons stated they are planning a January meeting.  
(7) 

 
4. The Chair took Item 15a-d, board policy private funds.  Bob Ostrovsky stated it 

would be 9 o’clock for this item. (15a-d) 
 
5. The Chair took Item 16a-b, museum reports.  Discussion took place on the 

Nevada Historical Society board report from Director Magee and several action 
items.  She gave an update on the Q, attendance, items damaged from the roof 
leak.   She gave an update on free admissions.  Bob Ostrovsky moved for 
approval of free admission request.  Jan Petersen seconded.  Motion carried 
unanimously.   Anthony Timmons made a motion to approve the Ledbetter 
Donation.      Doris Dwyer seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  Ms. Magee 
explained the request for fund replacement of archival housing materials and 
insurance deductible damage.  Dan Markoff moved to accept.  Jan Petersen 
seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  Chairman Stoldal moved to Lost City 
and a discussion was held on repairs and a curator.  Chair Stoldal moved on to 
Carson City.  An update was given on the coin press, online items and 
membership.    (16a-b) 

 
6. The Chair went back to Item 15c.  Cary Allison from Morgan Stanley gave a 

presentation.   Bob Ostrovsky asked about stock portfolio and a discussion was 
held.  He proposed a 50-50 portfolio and made a motion to modify the investment 
directions to 50% stocks and 50% bonds.  Anthony Timmons seconded.  Motion 
carried unanimously.   Bob Ostrovsky detailed a change they were recommending 
to the policy portion and made a motion to add the language to the policy.  
Anthony Timmons seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.   (15c) 

 
7. The Chair went back to 16c-d, Nevada State Museum in Carson City and their 

action items, donation acceptance of Carson City Downtown Business 
Association.  A discussion was held and Dan Markoff made a motion to accept. 
Courtney Mooney seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.   The donation 
acceptance of La Rocca Trust was discussed.  Dan Markoff made a motion to 
accept.  Doris Dwyer seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  The Chair took the 
donation of the Russell Trust and a discussion took place.  Dan Markoff moved to 
accept.  Bob Ostrovsky seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  The Chair took 
the acceptance of a donation from Visit Caron City and a discussion took place.  



Minutes of Nevada Board of Museums and History  
December 9, 2022 8:00 AM 

Page 3 of 4 

 

Bob Ostrovsky moved to accept.  Jan Petersen seconded.  Motion carried 
unanimously.  The Chair moved to donations from Raven Trust and a discussion 
took place.  Dan Markoff moved to accept.  Doris Dwyer seconded.  Motion 
carried unanimously.  The Chair moved to accept a donation of $3,500.00 and a 
discussion was held.  Bob Ostrovsky moved to accept.  Dan Markoff seconded.  
Motion carried unanimously.  The Chair moved to the report on Las Vegas.  A 
discussion was held regarding the first quarter of Fiscal 2023, recent activities, 
any issues.  A discussion took place.  Myron Freedman recommended to 
schedule a finance committee meeting to review Springs Preserve agreement.  
The Springs Preserve was discussed.   A $500.00 donation from the International 
Women’s Forum was discussed.  Robert Stoldal made a motion to approve the 
donation.  Bob Ostrovsky seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  (16c-d) 

 
8. The Chair took Item 5, meeting logistics (taken out of order).  A discussion took 

place regarding a 12-passenger van at the museum.  (5) 
 
9. The Chair went back to Item 16e, Nevada State Railroad Museum in Carson City.  

A discussion took place regarding a donation, store remodel design request and 
Great Western Steam Up P&L report.  Dan Markoff made a motion to accept the 
donation.  Bob Ostrovsky seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  Myron 
Freedman recommended tabling the store remodel design request until the next 
meeting.   Dan Markoff made a motion to table. Bob Ostrovsky seconded.  Motion 
carried unanimously. (16e) 

 
10.   The Chair took Item 16f, Boulder City.  A discussion took place regarding a travel 

request, the report and PastPerfect.   Bob Ostrovsky moved to approve an 
amount not to exceed $2,000.00 for travel expenses.   Dan Markoff seconded.  
Motion carried with one no vote from Anthony Timmons.  A discussion took place 
regarding a lithium battery fire, the process of fixing the building and who is going 
to pay for it.   (16f) 

 
11. The Chair took Item 16g, Ely.  A discussion took place.  (16g) 
 
12. The Chair took Item 17, private funds budget adjustments-current year.  Myron 

Freedman stated there were none.  (17) 
 
13.  The Chair took Item 18, board member comment on non-agenized items.  

Christopher MacMahon reported on the expenditure to improve the cars and they 
would have a report for the March meeting. (18) 

 
14.  The Chair took Item 19, future museum board agenda Items.   Discussion took 

place regarding the finance committee, membership, update on fiscal year 24 for 
railroad cars, rental agreement between Friends.  Anthony Timmons reinforced 
his request to put the draft artifacts loan policy on the agenda.   (19) 

 



Minutes of Nevada Board of Museums and History  
December 9, 2022 8:00 AM 

Page 4 of 4 

 

15. The Chair took Item 20, public comment announcement.  There were no public 
comments.  (20) 

 
16. The Chair adjourned the meeting.  
 
     
 
 
 
 
 
  



1 
 

________________ ________________ 

THE HERITAGE LIVES HERE. ________________________________________ 
 
 

Membership Committee 
Nevada Board of Museums and History 

Thursday February 9, 2023, 12:00 PM – 1:30 PM 
 
 
 

MEETING SUMMARY 
 

 
In Attendance: 

1. Anthony Timmons, Membership Committee Chair 
2. Mercedes De La Garza, Membership Committee Member 
3. Robert Stoldal, Board of Museums and History Chair 
4. Harry Ward, Deputy Attorney General 
5. Myron Freedman, Division of Museums and History Administrator 
6. Daphne DeLeon, Division of Museums and History, ASO 
7. Josh Bonde, Nevada State Museum Carson City Director 
8. Hollis Gillespie, Nevada State Museum Las Vegas, Director 
9. Catherine Magee, Nevada Historical Society Director 
10. Christopher MacMahon, Nevada State Railroad Museum Boulder City 
11. Tracey Sprague, Lost City Museum Director 
12. Dan Thielen, Nevada State Railroad Museum Cason City 
13. Sean Pitts, Nevada State Railroad Museum East Ely 
14. Kelly Brant, Nevada State Museum Carson City Membership Lead 

 
 
 
I. Meeting recording was started. 

 
II. Chair Timmons called the meeting to order. 
 
III. Chair Timmons confirmed that the meeting was properly posted. 

 
IV. Roll call was conducted, and a quorum established. 
 
V. Public Comment: No public comment was received by the Chair, Timmons, Member 
De La Garza or Division Administrator Freedman. 
 
 



2 
 

VI. Committee Business 
A. Review and propose edits to the museum membership policy 
 
Chair Timmons reviewed the proposed Membership Policy (Policy) revisions, noting that 
2019 was the last time the Policy was reviewed. Recommended revisions include: 

1. Eliminating Senior, Student, Contributing, patron, and benefactor membership 
categories.  

2. Increasing the annual costs for Individual ($40.00), Family ($70.00) and 
Sustaining ($250.00) membership categories. 

3. Making former members of the Board of Museums and History (Board) eligible 
for Honorary Life membership. 

4. Eliminating all language regarding the Nevada Historical Society Quarterly as a 
membership benefit. 

5. Offering museum volunteers with 100+ hours of service annually eligible for an 
Individual membership. 

6. Defining Sustaining membership benefits. 
7. Adding other membership benefits created by the Membership Committee and 

Approved by the Board. 
8. Strengthening language requiring Friends of the Railroad Museum membership 

program to be consistent with the museums’ membership program as described 
by the Policy; and 

9. Establishing a bi-annual Board review of this Policy.  
 
Chair Timmons invited comments. The following comments were made. 
 
Nevada Historical Society (NHS) Director Magee expressed concerns with the 
elimination of the senior membership. The NHS has a lot of senior memberships. 
Additionally, offering museum volunteers with 100+ hours of service annually a no-cost 
individual membership would negatively impact their membership revenue.  Currently, 
membership in the Docent Council requires an NHS membership and nearly 100% of 
current volunteers would qualify for a no-cost individual membership. 
 
Nevada State Museum Carson City (NMSCC) Membership Lead Brant also expressed 
concerns regarding the elimination of the senior membership category and offering 
museum volunteers with 100+ hours of service annually a no-cost individual 
membership. Senior memberships account for 36% of the total number of memberships 
and 12% of total membership revenue. Additionally, the proposed memberships 
categories of Contributing, Patron, and Benefactor account for 39.4% of total income. 
As with the NHS, the NSMCC Friends group requires an NSMCC membership. 
Currently, 17 out of 52 volunteers would be eligible for a no-cost individual membership. 
 
Division Administrator Freedman expressed his appreciation of the efforts to make the 
membership program more stream-lined and user-friendly. He hopes that the ability for 
each museum to define benefits for higher membership levels are still possible. 
 
Chair Timmons offered the following clarifications.  



3 
 

a. Senior membership category: While the senior membership category is 
proposed to be eliminated, museum directors would have the discretion to 
offer discounts to individual membership cost (i.e., individual membership 
cost $40.00-senior discount $20.00 = $20.00) to allow seniors to continue 
to pay the same cost they are paying now (senior membership = $20.00). 

b. Higher level membership categories: Sustaining membership is a 
minimum of $250.00. Nothing prevents an individual from paying more 
than the minimum. Developing benefits for premium level memberships 
are a work in progress. 

c. Museum volunteers with 100+ hours of service: Modeled after the National 
Park/Bureau of Land Management program to recognize/reward volunteer 
service. 

 
Board Chair Stoldal recommended the Committee re-look at the proposed elimination of 
the senior membership category. Perhaps increasing it to $25 annually.  
 
Additionally, Chair Timmons brought up the NHS specific membership benefit – NHS 
quarterly subscription. NHS members will receive NHS Quarterly as a membership 
benefit.  Members of other museums can subscribe to the NHS Quarterly at a 
discounted rate. Other museums will develop specific member benefit for review by 
Committee and Board to increase the attractiveness of basic and premium level 
memberships. Concern was expressed that potentially not all museums will be able to 
develop equitable museum-specific benefits. 
 
Railroad museum membership benefits and program structure were discussed.  At the 
Carson City and Boulder City museums, membership programs are run by the 
associated Friends Groups.  There is no museum membership program because of lack 
of staff. At the Carson City Museum members receive free museum admission, 15% 
store discount and 50% train ride discount. At the Boulder City Museum, members 
receive free train rides. The proposed Policy recommendation to strengthen language 
requiring the Friends Groups’ membership categories match the museum categories 
caused concern.  The Boulder City Museum Director MacMahon noted that the this will 
cause a significant concern.  Chair Timmons stated this issue was not created but 
highlighted by the proposed Policy recommendations. Board Chair was confident this 
issue can be resolved in a positive manner. 
 
It was noted that in other museums the Friends Group membership is separate from 
museum membership. Additionally, museum membership is required for Friends Group 
membership. 
 
Nevada State Museum Las Vegas Director Gillespie stated that there are three distinct 
membership programs at her museum: Museum, Friends Group and Springs Preserve. 
Museum members do receive no-cost general admission to the Springs Preserve. 
  
Committee Member De La Garza recommended that a survey be developed and 
distributed to the museums to document each museum’s priorities. This information 



4 
 

should be used to develop a matrix. She also suggested using a sticker on the 
individual card to identify seniors.  
 
Division Administrator Freedman suggested identifying a senior discount that could be 
applied to the individual and family membership categories. 
 
Chair Timmons noted that the tracking of the discounts process is still being developed.  
Basics of discount program are each museum would have a set number of discounts 
available, the POS system would continue to be used to sell memberships and museum 
staff would leverage current POS reports to track discounts used. 
 
A chart of FY22 membership data and reviewed. Two largest membership categories 
were Individual (354), and Seniors (351) Railroad Museum Friends Groups membership 
data will be added. 
 
Carson City Museum Director Thielen noted the Senior membership category 
represented 30% and Senior Family membership category represented 25% of Friends 
Group memberships.  It is important to retain this level of membership. Concerned that 
offering a no-cost individual membership to museum volunteers with 100+ hours of 
service would result in a decrease in these numbers. 
 
Attorney General’s Opinion stated that an individual is not required to be a member of 
the museum/Friends Group to volunteer. These volunteers receive access to the 
Museum only during their volunteer hours. 
 
It was suggested that the senior discount should be a percentage off.  Chair Timmons 
noted that markets recommend a dollar discount. This is easier for the customer to 
understand. 
 
Chair Timmons made the following motion. It was seconded by Committee Member De 
La Garza. It passed with the Chair voting in approval. 
 
Approve the presented Policy recommendations with the following changes. 

1. Increase proposed annual membership fees; Individual $45.00 and Family 
$75.00 

2. Eliminate offering museum volunteers with 100+ hours of service annually 
eligible for an Individual membership 

3. Delete language “bi-annual” from Policy review section 
 

Board Chair Stoldal suggested that the NHS specific member benefit be included in the 
Policy. 
 



5 
 

Chair Timmons responded the NHS specific member benefit be addressed in the NHS 
Quarterly policy and not be included in the systemwide Membership Policy. 
 
Division Administrator Freedman suggested that museums recommend museum-
specific benefits to the Board.  
 
B. Review and propose changes to create a single systemwide membership 
including pricing and initial member benefits.  
 
Chair Timmons noted that pricing and initial member benefits were part of the 6A 
discussion.  Planning that the approved Membership Policy will be effective July 1, 
2023. Membership card mock-ups are color-coded per membership category and the 
design will rotate annual making identification of membership level and year easily 
identified. 
 
Board Chair Stoldal asked for a description of the online membership process.  
 
Administrative Services Officer DeLeon shared that the online store website 
development includes the ability to purchase a membership online. Individuals wanting 
to join the Railroad Museum Friends Groups will be provided a link to the Friends Group 
websites. Online store website is planned to be operational by July 1, 2023. 
 
This item was tabled for a future meeting due to loss of quorum. 
 
VII. Public Comment  
Chair Timmons called for public comment. 
 
Comments centered on the implementation of the proposed membership policy for the 
state railroad museums and their Friends Groups. This topic will be further discussed at 
future Committee meetings.  
 
VIII. Chair Timmons adjourned the meeting 



STATE OF NEVADA 
Department of Conservation and Natural Resources 

Joe Lombardo, Governor 
James A. Settelmeyer, Director 

Rebecca L. Palmer, Administrator 
 

 

901 S. Stewart Street, Suite 5004        Carson City, Nevada 89701        Phone: 775.684.3448   Fax: 775.684.3442 

shpo.nv.gov 

 
 

Board of Museums and History 
March 9, 2023, Meeting 

National and State Registers – Staff Report 
March 1, 2023 

 
National Register of Historic Places Nominations  
 
None 
 
Nevada State Register of Historic Places Nominations 
 
None 
 
Listed Properties Since December 2022 Staff Report 
 
None 

 
Pending Nominations to the National Register  

 
Gem Theater, Pioche, Lincoln County 
A draft NRHP nomination was received in July 2022.  SHPO staff reviewed the draft 
and sent comments and edit requests to the author in September 2022.  The author and 
building owner are currently conducting additional research and editing the nomination 
to address the SHPO comments.  
 
El Rancho Hotel, Wells, Elko County 
Final edits to this document are in progress. 
 
White Pine Middle School, Ely, White Pine County 
SHPO staff received an early, incomplete draft that does not yet have confirmed owner 
support.  Our office conducted a courtesy review in February 2023 to help determine 
what additional research and documentation might be necessary. 

 
NRHP Inquiries Since December 2022 Staff Report 
 
SHPO staff received notice that a consultant is in the initial stages of gathering support 
and conducting research for a possible Ely Business District nomination. In addition, 
SHPO staff received seven inquiries for potential NRHP nominations: 33 N. W Street 
in Yerington, unspecified properties in Paradise Valley, Kilgore’s Pirate Lagoon in Las 

http://www.shpo.nv.gov/


 

 

 

Vegas (non-historic), Regency Towers in Las Vegas, Atlatl Rock in Valley of Fire State 
Park, the Old Gym Playhouse in Gardnerville, and a statewide MPDF for movie 
theaters. 
 

Pending Nominations to the State Register  
 

Cactus Theatre, Hawthorne, Mineral County 
A draft nomination for the Cactus Theater (Cinadome Theatre; Old Glory Theatre) was 
received in January 2023.  SHPO staff reviewed the nomination and provided 
comments and edits to the author in February. 
 
G.S. Garcia Saddle & Harness Shop, Elko, Elko County 
The Board conditionally approved this nomination during their December 2020 
meeting.  The nomination author is currently expanding the historic context and 
incorporating BMH member suggestions.  

  
SRHP Inquiries Since December 2022 Staff Report 
 
None.  
 
Federal NRHP Nominations  
 
 
1. Bahsahwahbee Traditional Cultural Property – The Bahsahwahbee TCP is listed 

in the NRHP at the statewide level of significance.  The BLM is working with 
the Confederated Tribes of the Goshute Reservation to determine if the TCP may 
also be eligible at the national level. The SHPO reviewed a draft Additional 
Documentation document in January 2023 and provided feedback to the BLM. 

2. Lincoln Highway and Victory Highway Multiple Property Documentation Forms 
(MPDF) and accompanying nominated road segments – No changes or updates 
since the previous staff report. 

3. Kyle Canyon Ranger Station and CCC Camp Charleston in Clark County – No 
changes or updates since the previous staff report. 

4. Dunkahni Archeological District in Great Basin National Park – No changes or 
updates since the previous staff report 

 

 

 

 

 



Division of Museums & History: Board of Museums and History Deaccession 

Policy  

Overview 

NRS 381.002 establishes the Board of Museums and History and sets forth duties 

and responsibilities for the Board.  

NRS 381.008 Sale of Duplicates, surplus and inappropriate items; use of proceeds 

outlines the Board’s role in the sale and financial management of deaccessioned 

collection materials.  

Policy 

Deaccessioning is defined as the process of removing permanently from the 

collection objects that previously have been accessioned. The deaccessioned 

artifacts or specimens must be thoroughly documented along with the reasons for 

their deaccession and the processes involved.  

This policy does not apply to materials covered by NAGPRA. 

The Deaccession Process includes the following steps: 

1. The Curator recommending the deaccession must create an information packet

that includes:

a. A detailed description of the object(s) under consideration;

b. Catalog record(s);

c. Copies of Deed(s) of Gift;

d. Photographs of object(s);

e. Justification for deaccession;

f. A list of potential institutions that might rehome the object. If applicable,

include the details of any proposed exchanges.

2. The Director creates a deaccession memo for the Administrator, who in turn

presents it, along with the packet, to the Board at least one month prior to a

scheduled board meeting.

3. Once placed on the public agenda as an action item, the Board will discuss and

decide on the next step.

4. The Administrator shares the Board’s decision with Museum Director.

a. If approved, the relevant Director and Curator moves forward with the

Disposition process.

b. If denied, the object is maintained in the collection.

c. If the relevant Director and Curator disagrees with the decision, they must

address the reasons for denial and re-present a request for deaccession of

the object at a later date.

13 a



5. Once the deaccession of an object is approved, the Disposition Process of 

collection material generally follows the following steps: 

A. Where applicable, the relevant Curator must first offer the material to the 

original donor. 

B. If uncontactable for any reason, or if the donor refuses to return, offer the 

material to a related public institution as appropriate. 

C. If a suitable repository is not found, and there is no condition or restriction 

placed on the gift, the Director may sell duplicates, surplus and items 

inappropriate to the collection with Board approval. The proceeds of the sale 

must be held in trust and may be held in trust and used only to enrich the 

collections of the Division. (NRS 381.008) 

D. Pursuant to NRS 381.009, any unclaimed property must be held for three 

years before becoming property of the Division. The Administrator can then 

take out an ad once a week for two weeks listing the property name and last 

known address of the property owner, a description of the property and a 

statement that if proof of claim is not made in 60 days after the date of the 

last ad, the property is considered abandoned.  

Annual Review 

The Board of Museums and History shall review this policy annually. 



1.1 Museum Overview 
1.1.1 Board of Museums & History 
The Board of Museums and History is established under NRS 381.002 and supports the activities of the 
Division of Museums and History. The board shall develop, review and make policy for investments, 
budgets, expenditures and general control of the Divisions’ private and endowed trust funds. The Board 
shall review the Nevada State Museum Collections Management Policies and Procedures annually and 
make necessary recommendations for revisions based on prior year collections management by all 
Nevada State Museums.  
The Board also has a decision-making role in some aspects of the Museum’s collection management, 
under NRS 381.0063 which is noted accordingly in this document. 

5 LOAN POLICIES & PROCEDURES

5.1 Outgoing Loan Policy  

Under NRS 381.0063 the Board of Museums and History has the “sole discretion” regarding loaning 
museum artifacts to “locations in or outside of the State.   
The Museum frequently receives loan requests from other institutions. In general, the Museum will not 
lend artifacts or specimens to individuals, business or commercial enterprises, staff members, trustees, 
or members of the news media. Exceptions can be made with the approval of the Director or 
appropriate Curator, and reported to the Board of Museums and History for review at the next available 
meeting of the Board. Additionally, the Museum reserves the right to refuse any loan that is not deemed 
appropriate or if there is a concern that there will not be accepted professional standards of care. 
Questions regarding legitimacy of loan requests may, if necessary, be brought to the Board for review 
prior to issuing a statement of approval or denial to the entity submitting the request.  

Considerations for outgoing loan approval include, but are not limited to: 

● Approval of the Museum Director, Administrator and the Board of Museums and History./or
Board (as necessary);
● The condition of the object requested and the possibilities for damage;
● The scholarly or educational value of the request;
● The facility report and professional capabilities of the borrowing institution that will handle,
house and care for the outgoing loan;
● Adequate insurance coverage from borrowing institution.

The following conditions must be met by the borrowing institution: 

1. All loans must have an end date, i.e. there are no indefinite loans. Renewal periods can be
based on need and relationship with the borrowing institution.
2. Borrowers must provide proof of insurance for the full amount specified by the Museum.
3. Borrowers must arrange and pay for shipping in both directions. Materials must be returned
in similar or superior packaging to that in which they were received.
4. Borrowed artifacts and specimens placed on exhibition at the borrowing institution must be
placed in a secure area to ensure preservation of individual items as specified by the Museum.

13 b



5. No artifact or specimen may be altered in any way without written consent of the Director. 
6. No adhesive, tape, pins, nails, or other attachments may be used for mounting. 
7. The Museum may require that a staff member accompany the loan and that unpacking, 
mounting, dismounting and repacking be done under the supervision of a staff member at the 
borrower’s expense. 
8. Proper credit must be given to the Museum in any exhibition or publication featuring loaned 
materials. 
 

Natural History Outgoing Loans 
Outgoing loans of natural history specimens will be made to qualified researchers at the discretion of 
the Curator of Natural History. Loaned material may be sampled and/or otherwise manipulated with the 
permission of the Curator of Natural History and documented in PastPerfect. 
 

5.2 Outgoing Loan Procedures 
1. The appropriate Curator presents any outgoing loan requests during the weekly Collections 
Meeting, and includes all requests and final decisions as part of the regular quarterly report to 
the Board. Director approval is required for all outgoing loans. 
2. All items must be cataloged before they are loaned, this includes: 

a. Current detailed condition report 
b. Current photographs 
c. Provenance 
d. Museum location 
e. Labeling 

3. Curator determines the general fair market value of material by comparing to similar items 
listed for auction and other required research. Note, this is not an appraisal, but an estimate of 
the amount required to replace an object. 
4. The Registrar creates a loan record in PastPerfect and attaches individual catalog records for 
each item included in the loan. The numbering format for Outgoing Loans is - VM-OUT-YYYY-PP 
(VM-outgoing loan-year-sequential number assigned by PastPerfect; e.g., VM-OUT-2020-054) 
5. Registrar requests proof of insurance (copy of the policy, policy number & contact 
information) 
6. Borrowing institution agrees to and signs a loan agreement. Any provisions/conditions 
separate from the normal conditions listed above will be outlined in the agreement. 
7. Registrar informs Risk Management by submitting loan paperwork, condition reports, and 
photographs. 
8. All documentation and correspondence is stored in the Museum’s permanent paper record 
and on the Curator drive and referenced in PastPerfect. 
9. Once a month, the Registrar will generate a report in PastPerfect to list all outgoing loans and 
renew/request their return accordingly. 
10. Upon return of the loan risk management will be informed with the signed agreement sent 
to Risk Management as proof and the state of the returned object (broken, fine, etc.) 
 

5.2.1 Procedure for Receiving a Returned Outgoing Loan 
1. The Registrar carefully unpacks the material taking photographs of the exterior of the 
packaging and noting any damage. 
2. The Registrar completes a condition report for every item and updates catalog record to 
denote returned. 



3. The Registrar completes the paperwork that comes with the returned loan, 
4. The Registrar notifies Risk Management and all parties concerned that the loan has been 
returned in full and unharmed. 
5. All documentation and correspondence is stored in the Museum’s permanent paper record 
and on the Curator drive 
 

5.3 Incoming Loan Policy 
Museum Curators may request to borrow items from other institutions, organizations, or individual 
lenders for the purpose of exhibition or research. The Museum will provide the same professional care 
for objects in temporary custody that it does for its own collections but will assume no additional 
responsibilities or liabilities. This includes the cataloging of all loaned materials. All incoming loans shall 
be reported to the Board for review as part of the regular quarterly report. 
 
Along with the requirements of the lending institution, the following conditions must be met: 
 

● The Museum has the financial resources to cover transportation costs, any required 
appraisals, and additional costs associated with loan 
● The Museum can ensure the security and proper care of the material; 
● The Museum acknowledges the lender according to the lender’s wishes. 
 

5.4 Incoming Loan Procedures 
1. The appropriate Curator presents any incoming loan requests during Collections Meetings. 
Director approval is required for all loans. 
2. The Registrar prepares and fills out the incoming loan paperwork, including paperwork from 
the lending institution. 
3. The Registrar creates an incoming loan record in PastPerfect. The numbering format for 
Individual Loans is - VM-INC-YYYY-XY (Vegas Museum-incoming loan-year-perpetual sequential 
number; e.g., VM-INC-2020-075) 
4. Upon receipt of material, curators conduct appropriate pest management procedures, 
including quarantine. 
5. Registrar documents with photographs and in writing, the unpacking of the material. 
6. The Registrar sends a Loan Agreement to the lending institution or private lender. The object 
is not covered until the agreement is signed by both parties. 
7. The Registrar informs Risk Management and sends the incoming loan agreement signed by 
both lender and designated Museum team member and photographs of the loaned object(s). A 
hard copy of the email is kept for proof of insurance. 
8. In PastPerfect, the Registrar catalogs every item, including a condition report and 
photographs. 
9. In PastPerfect, the Registrar attaches each loaned item to the appropriate exhibit (if 
applicable); 
10. All documentation and correspondence is stored in the Museum’s permanent paper record 
and on the Curator drive. 
11. Once a month, the Registrar will generate a report in PP to list all incoming loans and 
renew/return accordingly. 

 
5.5 Procedure for Returning Loans 



1. The Registrar completes a condition report for every item and updates catalog record; 
2. The material is removed from PastPerfect exhibit; 
3. Referring to unpacking documentation, Registrar repacks material and photographs the 
process; 
4. Registrar arranges for the return of material and generates a return receipt, which must be 
signed by lender 
5. Once material is returned and signed documents received, the Registrar notifies Risk 
Management and all parties concerned 
6. All documentation and correspondence is stored in the Museum’s permanent paper record 
and on the Curator drive. 
7. The museum Director will present to the Board a report that the items that were loaned have 
been returned and all parts of the agreement have been fulfilled. 



Board of Museums and History                                                                     Adopted: 9-07-2007 
                                                                                                   Reviewed and Revised: 12-04-2009 

                                                                                                                       Reviewed and Revised: 12-02-2011 

 

Board of Museums & History Membership Policy 

 

Overview Authority is granted in NRS 381.0045 for the Board of Museums and History 

to establish categories of and fees for membership in museums in the State of 

Nevada Division of Museums and History. 

 
Categories of 

Membership 
The following categories of and fees for membership exist in museums of the 

Division of Museums and History: 

− Individual  $35.00 

− Senior  $20.00 

− Student  $20,00 

− Family  $60.00 per household 

− Sustaining  $100.00 

− Contributing  $250.00  

− Patron  $500.00 

− Benefactor  $1,000.00 
  

 

Membership 

Benefits 
• Free admission to all museums within the Division of Museums and 

History. 

• 15% discount on purchases at all museum stores within the Division of 

Museums and History. 

• Nevada Historical Society Quarterly 

 

Note:  Senior and Student membership categories do not include a 

subscription to the Nevada Historical Society Quarterly. 

 
Nevada State 

Railroad 

Museum-

Carson City & 

Boulder City 

The Nevada State Railroad Museum, Carson City, has a membership program 

through the museum’s support organization the Friends of the Nevada State 

Railroad Museum (FNSRM).  The Friends of the Nevada State Railroad 

Museum are incorporated as a 501(c)3 non-profit organization established for 

the specific and primary purpose to establish a perpetual trust fund to assist in 

the support of the Nevada State Railroad Museum.                                 

Membership in the FNSRM is a requirement to volunteer at the Nevada State 

Railroad Museum. Categories of membership and fees for membership are 

consistent with those of other museums in the Division of Museums and 

History. 

 

Review Membership categories, benefits and fees shall be reviewed by the Board 

annually, at the Board meeting prior to the close of the State Fiscal Year. 



Board of Museums and History                                                                     Adopted: 9-07-2007 
                                                                                                   Reviewed and Revised: 12-04-2009 

                                                                                                                       Reviewed and Revised: 12-02-2011 

 

 



Board of Museums and History                                                                                
                                                                                                                                                          Adopted: 9-07-2007 

        Reviewed and Revised: 12.2009, 12.2010, 12.2011, 9.2012, 4.2013, 12.2014, 12.2017 
                  Reviewed: 12.2012, 12.2013, 12.2015, 12.2016, 12.2019                                                                                         

 

Board of Museums & History Membership Policy 

 
Overview Authority is granted in NRS 381.0045 for the Board of Museums and History 

to establish categories of, and fees for, membership in museums in the State 
of Nevada Division of Museums and History. 

 
Categories of 
Membership 

The following categories of, and fees for, systemwide membership exist in 
the museums of the Division of Museums and History: 
− Individual  $3545.00 
− Senior  $20.00 
− Student $20.00 
− Family  $6075.00 per household 
− Sustaining  $100.00$250.00 
− Contributing  $250.00  
− Patron  $500.00 
− Benefactor  $1,000.00 
− Honorary Life (Bestowed at the discretion of and by action of the Board 

of Museums & History to past Department Directors and others who have 
provided service of distinction to Nevada State museums, including 
former members of the Board of Museums and History) 

 
    Additionally, all active full and part-time employees of the Department of 

Tourism and Cultural Affairs shall be deemed as individual members 
(without the benefit of receiving the Nevada Historical Society Quarterly 
publication) of the Division and its member museums with all benefits as 
due that class of membership.  

 
Membership 
Benefits 

• Free admission to all museums within the Division of Museums and History, 
exclusive of train rides which are offered at 50% discount to members. 

• 15% discount on purchases at all museum stores within the Division of 
Museums and History. 

• Nevada Historical Society Quarterly 
• Access to the Las Vegas Springs Preserve 
• Sustaining members shall have benefits as family members with special 

invitations to VIP and Behind the Scenes events. 
• Other benefits as created by the museum subcommittee and approved by the 

Board of Museums and History 
 



Board of Museums and History                                                                                
                                                                                                                                                          Adopted: 9-07-2007 

        Reviewed and Revised: 12.2009, 12.2010, 12.2011, 9.2012, 4.2013, 12.2014, 12.2017 
                  Reviewed: 12.2012, 12.2013, 12.2015, 12.2016, 12.2019                                                                                         

Note:  Senior, student and Honorary Life membership categories do not include 
a subscription to the Nevada Historical Society Quarterly or similar interest 
specific publications as a benefit of membership. 
 
Also, members of the Las Vegas Springs Preserve are provided reciprocal  
 
benefits to Nevada State museums; that is, they receive free admission and 50% 
discount of train ride fares as well as museum store discounts.  A valid Las 
Vegas Springs Preserve membership card must be presented to secure these 
benefits.   

 
 
Nevada State 
Railroad 
Museum-
Carson City & 
Boulder City 

 
The Nevada State Railroad Museum, Carson City, has a membership program 
through the museum’s support organization the Friends of the Nevada State 
Railroad Museum (FNSRM).  The Friends of the Nevada State Railroad 
Museum are incorporated as a 501(c)3 non-profit organization established for 
the specific and primary purpose to establish a perpetual trust fund to assist in  
the support of the Nevada State Railroad Museum. Categories of membership 
and fees for membership are must be consistent and equal to with those of other 
museums in the Division of Museums and History. 
 
The Nevada State Railroad Museum, Boulder City, also has a membership 
program through a support organization, Friends of the Nevada Southern 
Railway.  This organization is organized and chartered as a 501(c)3 non-profit 
along the same lines as the Carson City Friends group.  Categories and cost of 
membership are must be consistent with and equal to those of other museums 
in the Division of Museums and History.  
 
Both Friends organizations have opted-out of providing the Nevada Historical 
Society Quarterly as a membership benefit and thus these two Friends 
organizations do not pay an assessment for the journal.  In lieu of the Nevada 
Historical Society Quarterly, both of these organizations provide a subject-
matter specific journal as a membership benefit. 
 

 
Review The Membership membership categories, benefits and feespolicy shall be 

reviewed by the membership subcommittee and approved by the Board 
annually, at the Board meeting prior to the close of the State Fiscal Year. 

 



 

Nevada State Railroad Museum 
Facility Rental Agreement:  Page 1 of 4 

Nevada Department of Tourism and Cultural Affairs  
DIVISION OF MUSEUMS AND HISTORY 

Nevada State Railroad Museum, Boulder City 
601 Yucca Street 

Boulder City, NV 89005 
                       (702) 486-5952      Fax (702) 486-5901 

               
          

 
 
 

     EQUIPMENT EXHIBITION AGREEMENT 
 
In consideration of provisions contained herein, the State of Nevada, Department of Tourism 
& Cultural Affairs, Division of Museums and History, Nevada State Railroad Museum, 
Boulder City, hereinafter called STATE, does hereby grant this Permit for Exhibition of 
Nevada State Railroad Museum collections to the Friends of the Nevada Southern 
Railway hereinafter referred to as PERMITTEE doing business at 601 Yucca Street, 
Boulder City, NV 89005. This permit authorizes the use of Excursion Train at the Nevada 
State Railroad Museum, 601 Yucca Street, Boulder City, Nevada, subject to conditions and 
provisions contained herein, for the purpose of Boulder City Bunny Express Fundraiser.  
 

1. TERM OF PERMIT  
 

1.1 This permit shall be in effect from 5:00pm to 10:00pm on the March 25 and 26; 
April 1, 2, 6, and 7 of 2023 and shall include no more than 250 attendees per train. 
 

2. OBLIGATIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIEES OF PERMITTEE  
 
 Damages 
 
The PERMITTEE will be directly responsible for damages to STATE property, facilities and/or 
equipment attributed to the PERMITTEE’s personnel and/or attendees, equipment and/or 
activities. PERMITTEE agrees to pay for such damages upon demand by the STATE. 
 
 Insurance  
 
PERMITTEE shall at all times during the terms of this permit, have and in force liability 
insurance, including comprehensive general liability with personal injury, contractual and 
broad form property damage liability endorsement. Said coverage will be sufficient to cover 
all liabilities which might arise out of the use of the facilities and/or liabilities incurred by 
STATE or PERMITTEE personnel and/or attendees. Said insurance shall be underwritten by 
insurers satisfactory to STATE and provide the following minimum limits of coverage: ONE 
MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) Combined Single Limit.  

 
         

                   

 
 

Joe Lombardo 
Governor 

 
Christopher 

MacMahon, Ph.D. 
Museum Director 

 
Myron Freedman  
 Administrator 

 
Brenda Scolari 

Deputy Director 



 

Nevada State Railroad Museum 
Facility Rental Agreement:  Page 2 of 4 

 

   2.2.1 Required Language:  Said policy shall contain the following language: “The 
State of Nevada, Department of Tourism & Cultural Affairs, Division of Museums and History, 
Nevada State Railroad Museum, Boulder City, it’s officers, board members, employees, 
agents, and volunteers, shall be additional insured under the terms of the insurance 
required.” 
 
                2.2.2 Certificate of Insurance:  A signed complete Certificate of Insurance, with 
all the endorsements required herein, shall be filed with the State of Nevada, Department of 
Tourism & Cultural Affairs, Nevada State Railroad Museum, within 72 hours prior to the date 
of the event. Said insurance policy will not be canceled or materially altered without prior 
written notice to STATE.   
 
                2.2.3 Liabilities for Payment of Insurance Premiums:  The State of Nevada is 
not liable for the payment of any premiums, deductibles or assessments on any insurance 
policies required of PERMITTEE by STATE or by any policies purchased by PERMITTEE.   
 
                 2.2.4 Waiver of Claims: PERMITTEE thereby waives all claims and recourse 
against STATE, its officers, board members, employees, agents, and volunteers, including 
the right to contribution for loss or damage to persons or property arising from, growing out of 
or in way connected with or incident to this Permit except claims arising from concurrent or 
sole negligence of STATE, its officers, board members, employees, agents, and volunteer. 
 
        2.3. Indemnification 
 
The PERMITTEE shall indemnify STATE, its nominees, board members, employees, agents, 
and volunteers and hold them free and harmless against any and all claims, liabilities, 
damage and expenses (including legal fees), relating to and arising out of PERMITTEE’s use 
of the premises. 
 
        2.4 PERMITTEE’s Use of Premises 

 
                    2.4.1. Compliance with State Laws and Regulations:  PERMITTEE, his 
employees and/or attendees, and his contract personnel shall at all times comply with all 
STATE laws and regulations. 

 
                    2.4.2 Sanitation: PERMITTEE will maintain and operate the premises in a 
clean, safe, wholesome and sanitary condition, free of trash, garbage, or obstructions and 
shall collect and remove all garbage and debris resulting from PERMITTEE’s use of the 
premises.    

   
         2.4.3 Parking:  PERMITTEE will not obstruct any STATE parking lots, drive 
ways, or streets without prior written approval. 
 



 

Nevada State Railroad Museum 
Facility Rental Agreement:  Page 3 of 4 

 

         2.4.4 Smoking: The Nevada State Railroad Museum buildings are NO Smoking 
facilities. PERMITTEE is responsible to ensure there is NO Smoking within the 
facilities. 

 
        2.4.5 Alcoholic Beverages: Alcohol may be served if the following conditions 
are met: 
                     2.4.5.1 Alcohol may be served with proof of a Liquor Permit, which can 
be obtained through the City of Boulder City, 401 California Avenue, Boulder City, 
Nevada. 
 
        2.4.6 Equipment: Tables, chairs, and some audio-visual equipment may be 
available based on the following conditions: 
                    2.4.6.1 PERMITTEE is responsible for setup of tables, chairs, any 
audiovisual equipment used. 
 
                    2.4.6.2 Additional use fees may apply. 
 
2.5 FEES FOR USE OF PREMISES. 
 
        2.5.1 PERMITTEE shall pay the STATE the sum of: $10.00 per rider for the 
use of the facilities as outlined in this Agreement located at the Nevada State 
Railroad Museum, 601 Yucca Street, Boulder City, Nevada.  Monies will be due and 
payable by 4:00pm on May 1, 2023; checks to be made payable to the Nevada 
State Railroad Museum. Checks may be delivered in person or mailed to the 
Nevada State Railroad Museum, 600 Yucca Street, Boulder City, NV  89005.  A $25 
returned check fee will be charged for any returned checks. 
 
         2.5.2 Cancellation of Facility Use: PERMITTEE is responsible for submitting 
cancellation in writing 7 days prior to use of the facility for a 100% refund, 2 days 
prior to use of the facility for a 50% refund. Any cancellations received less the 2 
days prior to use of the facility will forfeit all fees paid. Written cancellations may be 
delivered in person, via U.S. Mail or by Fax to (702) 486-5901 A cancellation receipt 
signed by administration staff of the Nevada State Railroad Museum must 
accompany any request for refund. The Nevada State Railroad Museum will refund 
100% of facility use fees to PERMITTEE in the event use must be cancelled through 
no fault of PERMITTEE. 
 

3. STATE RIGHT OF INGRESS AND EGRESS 
       
            STATE reserves the right of ingress and egress to inspect, investigate and survey 
said premises as deemed necessary by the STATE, and the right to do any or all work of any 
nature necessary for preservation, maintenance, and operation of the state operated facility. 
 
 



 

Nevada State Railroad Museum 
Facility Rental Agreement:  Page 4 of 4 

 

4.  ASSIGNMENTS  
 
No transfer or assignment if any rights of PERMITTEE under this Permit may be made, 
without the express written approval of STATE. 
 

5. CHOICE OF LAW   
 
Any and all disputes arising under this Permit shall be resolved in accordance with the 
provision of Nevada Law. 
 

6. MODIFICATION OF PERMIT  
 
The parties hereto may, by mutual written agreement, modify or amend this agreement.   
 

7. PERMIT UNDERSTANDING  
 

7.1. This signed Permit embodies the entire understanding and agreement between 
the parties. 
 
7.2. Failure of the PERMITTEE to comply with the terms of this Facility Use Permit 
may prejudice the State in granting future permits. 
 

8. REQUIRED SIGNATURES  
 
This agreement shall not be considered binding until all approving signatures have been 
obtained. 
 
 
APPROVED: 
 
By:____________________                                     By:____________________                                               
Nevada State Railroad Museum        
         

_____________________ 
        Printed Name 
          
 
Date___________________                                      Date___________________                         

 
 



NEVADA STATE RAILROAD MUSEUMS
BOARD APPROVED TRAIN RIDE AND RELATED FEES

March 2023

Rate Category NSRM-CC: 2019

BOARD 
APPROVED      

SFY 2020 NSRM-BC: 2019

BOARD 
APPROVED      

SFY 2022

SFY 2023 
Museum 

requested
Revenue  

Museum Admission
Adult $6.00 $8.00 N/A N/A GF
Children (under 18) (NRS 381.0045(2)) No Charge No Charge N/A N/A GF
Adult: Special Event: museum admission & unlimited train rides/members $15.00/$9.00 $15.00 N/A N/A GF
Child 6 -17: Special Event: museum admission (free) & unlimited train rides $9.00 $10.00 N/A N/A GF
Child 5 and under: Special Event: museum admission (free) & unlimited train rides $5.00 $5.00 N/A N/A GF

Steam Train
Adult (age 12 and older) $8.00 $8.00 N/A N/A GF
Children (4-11) $4.00 $4.00 N/A N/A GF
Children (3 and younger) No Charge No Charge N/A N/A GF
Steam Train 2-hour rental when open $1,800.00 $2,000.00 N/A N/A TF
Steam Train 2-hour rental when closed $3,000.00 $3,000.00 N/A N/A TF
Iron Horse Rail Camp (service fee) N/A N/A N/A N/A $1,000.00 TF

Edwards Motor Car
Adult (age 12 and older) $4.00 $6.00 N/A N/A GF
Children (4-11) $2.00 $3.00 N/A N/A GF
Children (3 and younger) No Charge No Charge N/A N/A GF
School Groups (Adult Chaperones) $2.00 $3.00 N/A N/A GF
School Groups (Students) $1.00 $2.00 N/A N/A $3.00 GF
Edwards motor car 2-hr rental when open (excludes McKeen car) $300.00 $500.00 N/A N/A TF
Edwards motor car 2-hr rental when closed (excludes McKeen car) $400.00 $800.00 N/A N/A TF

McKeen Motor Car
Adult (age 12 and older) $8.00 $8.00 N/A N/A GF
Children (4-11) $4.00 $4.00 N/A N/A GF
Children (3 and younger) No Charge No Charge N/A N/A GF
McKeen motor car 2-hr rental $1,800.00 $2,000.00 N/A N/A TF

Hand Car (off-site for up to 4 hours)
For-profit $75.00 $250.00 N/A N/A TF
Non-profit $45.00 $150.00 N/A N/A TF

Adults (age 12 and older) N/A N/A $10.00 $10.00 GF
Children (4-11) N/A N/A $5.00 $5.00 GF
Children (3 and younger) N/A N/A No Charge No Charge GF
Military (Blue Star Program) N/A N/A No Charge No Charge GF
School Field Trips (Mon-Fri) (minimum 30, per person rate, includes adult 
chaperones) N/A N/A

$5.00 student & 
teacher/adult

$5.00 student &  
teacher/adult GF

Groups (minimum of 12 to qualify for this rate) N/A N/A $7.00 $7.00 GF
Promotional coupon, "$1.00 off Adult fare" (results in $9.00 Adult fare) N/A N/A N/A $9.00 GF
"Engineer for an Hour"  (CC-steam only program - 2 hours min) $500.00 $500.00 $250.00 $250.00 $400 TF
Caboose Rides (BC) N/A N/A $20 TF
Locomotive Cab Rides $25.00 $25.00 $35.00 $35.00 TF
Dining Car Rental (2 runs in regular train, includes 48 tickets) N/A N/A $500.00 $500.00 TF
Wedding Train (1 trip includes site rental for 4 hours) N/A $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $2,000 TF
Charter Train (2 hours, 2 runs, includes dining car in train) N/A N/A $500.00 $500.00 $750 TF
Charter Train - Community Events (2 hours, 1 run, includes dining car in train - for 
Service Clubs, Chamber of Commerce, Art Commission) N/A N/A $250.00 $250.00 $500 TF
Railbike: per person fee for use of railroad $6 GF

Special Events
FNSRY Bunny Express (Per Passenger fee) N/A N/A N/A N/A $10.00 GF
FNSRY Train of Terror (Per Passenger fee) $8.00 GF
FNSRY Santa Express (Per Passenger fee) $6.00 $8.00 $8.00 GF
Music Train $10.00 GF
Santa Train - December $5.00 per seat $5.00 per seat $10.00 per seat $10.00 per seat GF
Santa Train FNSRM Fundraiser (3rd weekend of December) (Per Passenger fee) N/A N/A $6.00 per seat $8.00 per seat $5.00 GF
Eggstravaganza FNSRM Fundraiser (Per Passenger Fee) $10.00 GF
StoryTime Train $10.00 GF
Rates effective December 2022

Nevada Southern Railway



5033 5034 5035 5036 5037 5038 5039 All

MUSEUMS & 
HISTORY 
BOARD

MUSEUM 
ADMINISTRATOR'S 

OFFICE

NEVADA 
HISTORICAL 

SOCIETY

NEVADA 
STATE 

MUSEUM

NEVADA 
STATE 

RAILROAD 
MUSEUMS

LOST CITY 
MUSEUM

NEVADA 
STATE 

MUSEUM        
LAS VEGAS

AS OF          
December 31, 

2022
REVENUES:
Funds Balanced Frwd frm SFY 22 Restricted 0.00 0.00 1,720,016.00 217,683.00 753,833.00 3,875.00 135,779.00 2,831,186.00
Funds Balanced Frwd frm SFY 22 Unrestricted 26,177.00 0.00 307,089.00 387,412.00 132,375.00 82,301.00 26,107.00 961,461.00
Funds Balanced Frwd to SFY 24 Restricted 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Funds Balanced Frwd to SFY 24 Unrestricted 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
BLM Cooperative Agreement 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Conference Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Facilities Charges 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,670.00 1,400.00 0.00 0.00 3,070.00
Special Services 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Volunteer Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Charges for Services - Anthro 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,467.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,467.00
Charges for Svcs - Coin Press 0.00 0.00 0.00 6,924.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6,924.00
Membership 0.00 0.00 10,380.00 12,121.00 0.00 2,690.00 1,000.00 26,191.00
Photo Sales 0.00 0.00 460.00 598.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,058.00
Printing Sales 0.00 0.00 157.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,588.00 20,745.00
Merchandise Sales 0.00 0.00 4,645.00 86,639.00 110,745.00 41,222.00 0.00 243,251.00
Books and Pamphlets Sales 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Publication Sales 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Gifts and Donations 0.00 0.00 350.00 3,919.00 909.00 17,235.00 342.00 22,755.00
Private Grant 0.00 0.00 2,992.00 11,683.00 45,000.00 733.00 966.00 61,374.00
Friends of the Railroad 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 114,373.00 0.00 479.00 114,852.00
Treasurer's Interest 131.31 30.35 5,743.00 1,771.00 2,633.00 261.00 0.00 10,569.66
Prior Year Refunds 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Receipt from Outside Bank Account 28,194.00 17,801.00 0.00 10,868.00 1,368.00 1,243.00 0.00 59,474.00
Transfer From Dedicated Trust Fund 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total  Revenues (CASH) $54,502.31 $17,831.35 $2,051,832.00 $743,755.00 $1,162,636.00 $149,560.00 $185,261.00 $4,365,377.66

The following SFY23 Balance Forwards vary from previously submitted annual reporting of SFY22 due to rounding.
 $1 has been added to unrestricted balance forward amounts.

EXPENDITURES:
Administration 4,220.00 5,101.00 1,854.00 3,622.00 2,337.00 2,361.00 2,719.00 22,214.00
Professional Development 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Docent 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
NHS Quarterly 0.00 0.00 13,997.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 13,997.00

FOR SFY 2023 JULY 01, 2022 THRU DECEMBER 31, 2022

STATE OF NEVADA
DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM AND CULTURAL AFFAIRS

DIVISION OF MUSEUMS & HISTORY DEDICATED TRUST FUND
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (CASH BASIS)

1 3/7/2023



5033 5034 5035 5036 5037 5038 5039 All

MUSEUMS & 
HISTORY 
BOARD

MUSEUM 
ADMINISTRATOR'S 

OFFICE

NEVADA 
HISTORICAL 

SOCIETY

NEVADA 
STATE 

MUSEUM

NEVADA 
STATE 

RAILROAD 
MUSEUMS

LOST CITY 
MUSEUM

NEVADA 
STATE 

MUSEUM        
LAS VEGAS

AS OF          
December 31, 

2022

FOR SFY 2023 JULY 01, 2022 THRU DECEMBER 31, 2022

STATE OF NEVADA
DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM AND CULTURAL AFFAIRS

DIVISION OF MUSEUMS & HISTORY DEDICATED TRUST FUND
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (CASH BASIS)

Museum Store 0.00 0.00 472.00 58,581.00 49,101.00 43,595.00 8,855.00 160,604.00
Photo 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Collection Storage Maintenance 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
BLM Fed Cooperative Agreement 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Anthropology 0.00 0.00 0.00 571.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 571.00
Archeology 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 407.00 0.00 407.00
Natural History 0.00 0.00 0.00 250.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 250.00
Education 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,602.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,602.00
Buildings and Grounds 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 116.00 0.00 116.00
Exhibits/Collections 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,461.00 146.00 0.00 0.00 5,607.00
History 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,012.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,012.00
Docent 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Coin Press - Designated 0.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
Coin Show - Designated 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Board Special Projects 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
East Ely Museum Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,375.00 0.00 0.00 4,375.00
Boulder City Museum Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,736.00 0.00 0.00 9,736.00
Special Events 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 426.00 0.00 426.00
Special Projects 0.00 0.00 19,766.00 0.00 1,863.00 0.00 3,003.00 24,632.00
Restricted Projects 0.00 0.00 0.00 33,507.00 10,339.00 0.00 0.00 43,846.00
Transfer Funds to Outside Bank 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Reserve 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total Expenditures $4,220.00 $5,101.00 $36,089.00 $108,706.00 $77,897.00 $46,905.00 $14,577.00 $293,495.00

DIFFERENCE 50,282.31 12,730.35 2,015,743.00 635,049.00 1,084,739.00 102,655.00 170,684.00 4,071,882.66

INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS
Morgan Stanley - 171-044095 0.00 0.00 2,409.73 4,536.92 28,898.12 16,157.31 1,139.90 53,141.98
Morgan Stanley - 171-101259 * 0.00 0.00 235,980.07 120,705.76 147,186.88 420,725.32 53,474.42 978,072.45
Total Investment Accounts (VALUE) As Of 12/31/22 0.00 0.00 238,389.80 125,242.68 176,085.00 436,882.63 54,614.32 1,031,214.43

* This account has restricted endowment of $215,505.30 from Bretzoff

2 3/7/2023



















































































NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY LOST CITY MUSEUM

Joe Lombardo | Governor 721 South Moapa Valley Blvd.

Myron Freedman | Administrator P.O. Box 807

Tracey Sprague | Director Overton, NV 89040

LOST CITY MUSEUM

REPORT TO THE
BOARD OF MUSEUMS AND HISTORY  March 9, 2023



Lost City Museum
Report to the Board - March 9, 2023

State Fiscal Year 2023 
12/31/2022 Column1 Column2 Column3 Column4 GL /Cat#

SFY 2023 
Budget

Actuals 
YTD

Percentage 
YTD

Cash From Prev Fiscal Year 2511 86,176 86,176 100.00%
Cash Bal Fwrd New Fiscal Year 2512 0 0 0.00%

Comparison of Revenues Budgeted/ Received:
Memberships* 4008 8,834 2,690 30.45%
Merchandise Sales* 4025 90,000 41,222 45.80%
Gifts & Donations 4251 5,924 17,235 290.93%
Private Grants 4265 5,000 733 14.65%
Treasurer's Interest 4326 475 261 55.01%
Outside Bank Account 4454 1,243 1,243 100.00%

Total Revenues: $111,476 $63,384 56.86%

Comparison of Expenditures Budgeted/Expended:
Administration 35 5,464 2,361 43.20%
Archeology Special Projects 36 2,500 407 16.28%
Buildings & Grounds 37 2,521 116 4.60%
Shelving Unit Project 38 0 0 0.00%
Museum Store* 41 103,437 50,698 49.01%
Special Events 42 3,950 426 10.78%
Board Appr Special Projects 48 70,905 0 0.00%
Special Projects (Restricted) 55 8,875 0 0.00%

Total Expenditures: $197,652 $54,007 27.32%

Available Unrestricted Cash 95,553

I. Private Funds Budget Summary B/A 5038

Budget Summary Page 2 of 13



Lost City Museum
Report to the Board - March 9, 2023

Revenue/Expenditure Comparison Narrative:  

Report is through December 31, 2022.
* Further detail available in the  identified sections.

At the end of the second quarter, Lost City Museum (LCM) is almost at half of projected sales in the museum store. 
The museum also has taken in a good amount of donations this year so far, and hopes to continue the trend. 
Membership is not where it was anticipated, but hopefully will increase in the second half of the fiscal year. 

Budget Summary Page 3 of 13



Lost City Museum
Report to the Board - March 9, 2023

      
Gross store sales revenue  comparison against three previous fiscal years.
Fiscal Year July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL Column1

FY 2023 $3,803 $4,454 $8,386 $6,823 $11,055 $6,700 $41,222
FY 2022 $6,996 $6,445 $7,569 $7,096 $9,933 $5,795 $5,916 $7,778 $8,127 $11,839 $6,296 $5,439 $89,230
FY 2021 $3,388 $4,469 $2,679 $4,126 $2,104 $476 $2,956 $5,541 $10,524 $9,351 $6,694 $6,099 $58,408
FY 2020 $4,567 $5,775 $6,941 $11,610 $9,909 $7,730 $4,477 $8,076 $4,039 -$1 $0 $337 $63,460

YTD $3,803 $8,258 $16,643 $23,467 $34,521 $41,222 $41,222 $41,222 $41,222 $41,222 $41,222 $41,222 $41,222

54.37% 61.44% 79.22% 83.49% 90.75% 94.04% 82.86% 71.65% 62.78% 53.19% 49.20% 46.20%

54.37% 69.11% 110.78% 96.16% 111.29% 115.62% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.

Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Store sales chart comparison against three previous fiscal years.

II. Museum Store Sales

MONTHLY COMPARISON

YTD COMPARISON

$0

$2,000

$4,000

$6,000

$8,000

$10,000

$12,000

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June

FY 2023

FY 2022

FY 2021

FY 2020

Museum Store Page 4 of 13



Lost City Museum
Report to the Board - March 9, 2023

Museum Store Profit and Loss Chart

FY2023 Revenues Expenditures Total Net  % Net 

Merchandise Personnel Oper/Other Expenditure Profit (Loss) Profit (Loss)

July 3,803      -         2,302         -             2,302          1,501            39.5%
August 4,454      183         2,313         -             2,496          1,958            44.0%
September 8,386      6,912      3,093         24              10,029        (1,644)            (19.6%)
October 6,823      9,944      2,314         249            12,507        (5,684)            (83.3%)
November 11,055    7,919      2,313         -             10,232        823               7.4%
December 6,700      10,655    2,475         -             13,131        (6,430)            (96.0%)
January -         -              -                0.0%
February -         -              -                0.0%
March -         -              -                0.0%
April -         -              -                0.0%
May -         -              -                0.0%
June -         -              -                0.0%

FY23 Total 41,222    35,614    14,810       274            50,698        (9,476)            (23.0%)
FY22 Total 89,230    50,820    33,643       2,227         86,690        2,540            2.8%
FY21 Total 59,452    26,617    29,264       3,299         59,180        272               0.5%
FY20 Total 63,731    34,415    46,108       3,854         84,377        (20,646)         (32.4%)

Museum Store Page 5 of 13



Lost City Museum
Report to the Board - March 9, 2023

Museum Store Sales Narrative:
As noted in the table above, the Museum Store has spent a little more money for merchandise in the first two quarters compared to last fiscal year. This was in preperation for 
the increase of school groups that had started to book during this and previous quarter. Clark Country School District is allowing more field trips now that we are moving out of 
the COVID19 pandemic restritctions.
The museum also front-loaded buying merchandise for the store because of past supply chain issues. Staff decided that it would be best to get more merchandise up front in 
hopes to not expereince backorders and delays later in the year. This also helped with costs as free/reduced shipping is often offered when purchasing more items at once.

The Store Manager and director were able to start to look at the applications for the Museum Attendant I position for the museum store. Interviews are set for early Jan. 

Museum Store Page 6 of 13



Lost City Museum
Report to the Board -March 9, 2023

Membership Figures

Memberships (new and renewals) chart comparison against four previous fiscal years.

Membership TOTAL

Categories New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew Combined
Individual 4 2 5 6 5 22
Family 5 2 4 5 9 7 32
Sustaining 1 1 3 1 4 10
Contributing 1 1 0 2
Patron 0 0 0
Benefactor 1 0 1 2
Senior 6 18 8 13 14 31 90
Student 0 0 0
FY 23 16 21 15 27 0 0 0 0 31 48 79
FY 22 15 21 21 26 9 15 20 16 65 78 143
FY 21 5 23 0 16 9 25 10 20 24 84 108
FY 20 31 14 22 14 18 16 0 0 71 44 115
YTD 16 21 31 48 31 48 31 48 31 48 79

106.67% 100.00% 86.11% 102.13% 68.89% 77.42% 47.69% 61.54%

106.67% 100.00% 71.43% 103.85% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

TOTAL

IV.          	Membership Program

Qtr 1
July - Sep

Qtr 2
Oct - Dec

Qtr 3
Jan - Mar

Qtr 4
April - June

YTD COMPARISON

QUARTERLY COMPARISON

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.

Quarterly Comparison compares the current quarter of the current year against the same quarter in the previous year.

Membership Program Page 7 of 13



Lost City Museum
Report to the Board -March 9, 2023

Membership Sales

Membership sales  comparison against three previous fiscal years.       

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23 $0 $280 $250 $1,215 $235 $710 $2,690
FY 22 $215 $200 $535 $275 $870 $285 $630 $230 $160 $1,045 $445 $315 $5,205
FY 21 $195 $315 $180 $370 $200 $425 $240 $325 $335 $570 $170 $580 $3,905
FY 20 $115 $995 $225 $135 $275 $1,250 $295 $375 $375 $0 $60 $320 $4,420

YTD $0 $280 $530 $1,745 $1,980 $2,690 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,690

#DIV/0! 67.47% 55.79% 142.45% 94.51% 113.03% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

0.00% 140.00% 46.73% 441.82% 27.01% 249.12% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

Membership Program Page 8 of 13



Lost City Museum
Report to the Board -March 9, 2023

Membership Program Narrative

Compared to the second quarter of FY2022, we sold six less memberships, but one additional renewal. 
Membership is overall down, however, this quarter did see significant increases in the months of Oct. and Dec. 

Membership Program Page 9 of 13



Lost City Museum
Report to the Board - March 9, 2023

Attendance chart comparison against three previous fiscal years.

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23 436 398 522 1018 928 702 4004
FY 22 648 410 667 842 683 566 718 1006 1473 1113 677 562 9365
FY 21 279 435 334 561 198 7 330 657 932 1,011 573 519 5836
FY 20 833 991 994 2,010 1,429 707 1,069 1,166 506 0 0 0 9705
YTD 436 834 1,356 2,374 3,302 4,004 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,004

67.28% 78.83% 78.61% 92.48% 101.60% 104.93% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

67.28% 97.07% 78.26% 120.90% 135.87% 124.03% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Attendance Receipts
July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL

FY 23 $1,714 $1,414 $2,724 $3,557 $3,127 $2,138 $14,674
FY 22 $2,186 $1,695 $2,765 $3,155 $3,229 $1,896 $3,355 $4,458 $4,268 $5,566 $3,433 $3,508 $39,514
FY 21 $780 $1,445 $1,285 $2,440 $800 $0 $955 $2,110 $4,470 $3,805 $2,500 $2,470 $23,060
FY 20 $2,855 $2,950 $3,555 $6,125 $5,185 $2,847 $3,940 $4,640 $3,235 $0 $0 $0 $35,332
YTD 1,714 3,128 5,852 9,409 12,536 14,674 0 0 0 0 0 0 14,674

78.41% 80.59% 88.05% 96.00% 96.21% 98.31% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

78.41% 83.40% 98.52% 112.74% 96.84% 112.76% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

V.           	Museum Attendance

Attendance Page 10 of 13



Lost City Museum
Report to the Board - March 9, 2023

Museum Attendance Narrative:  

Lost City Museum has seen a increase in visitation in during the fall and early winter months compared to FY22.   
This was due to the increase of school groups allowed to visit again since the school district opened up field trips again. 

We held our annual fall Kid's Day on Oct. 8th. We had 24 in attendance for the event. 
We also held our annual Holiday Open House on Dec. 10th. The event, with assistance from the Lost City Museum Docent Council, raised 
$375.00 for our collections storage building. 103 visitors joined us for the event that day. 

During the quarter, Archaeologist Virigina Lucas made educational connections with over 1000+ people:
Oct. 1 – Pleistocene Palooza – 1000 People
Oct. 6 – Bone ID Workshop for Lake Mead Cultural Team, Law Enforcement, and Nellis Air Force Base. – 35 people
Oct. 8 – Led tour for NV Extension School Naturalists – 12 people
Oct. 15 – Three Corner’s Conference
Nov. 5 – Led tour for Western Division of the Archaeological Conservancy – 20 people

Attendance Page 11 of 13



Lost City Museum
Report to the Board - March 9, 2023

VI.   Fundraising Activities:  

We are targeting to accrue funds in the restricted account for the Design and Construction of a Museum Storage building in the lower parking lot 
at Lost City Museum. 

Fund Raising Page 12 of 13



Lost City Museum
Report to the Board - March 9, 2023

VII    General Museum Activities

CIP Projects
19-M33 Sewar upgrade project. Funded in the 2019 legislative session, this CIP remains incomplete at the typing of this report. Architects and Public Works did select a 
contractor in November 2022, American Southwest. Work is set to start sometime in early 2023. It is estimated that the project take at least 127 days of complete. 
Pueblo Assessment and Restoration. Funded in the 2021 session, this project is almost complete. A conservationist who specializes on historic lumbar collected data on the 
wooden beams. While his findings are complete, the report still is not. Once the report is received, we will be looking to reopen the pueblos to the public as it was 
discovered that there is no significant damage to the structures. 

Staff Activities:
In-person events were held this quarter at Lost City Museum as noted in the attendance narrative earlier in this report.
A part-time Museum Attendant I position in the Museum Store and a Curator II position remains unfilled. The recruitment for both positions opened in early December. 
Both listings have been posted on various job boards and in the local press.  By the end of December, there were five candidates picked to interview for the Museum 
Attendant I position. Interviews are set to take place in early January. 

On Oct. 8th, 2022, Lost City Museum hosted its fall Kids Day. 24 attendees joined us for the event. 

From Oct 11 through 14, director Tracey Sprague attended the Nevada Museum Association conference in Virginia City. The annual conference had a good attendance and 
was a great opportunity to network and learn from other Nevada museum professionals. 

On Nov. 27th, the Lost City Museum participated in Museum Store Sunday. The day offered sale for all of our museum store, and did generate a decent sales day: $416.89, a 
solid amount for a Sunday. 

Dec. 1st saw the reception for the collaboration with LCM and Nevada Humanities. LCM was invited to install a photo exhibit at the Nevada Huminites Gallery in Las Vegas 
from Dec. 1st, 2022, through Jan. 24th, 2023. The whole exhibit run was visited by around 467 people. 

Dec. 10 was the LCM’s Annual Holiday Open House. This was an opportunity for the docent council to hold a raffle and raise money for the collections building. 103 visitors 
joins us for the festivities, which included holiday deserts and drinks, and a string group playing holiday favorities.

Archaeologist Virginia Lucas participated in the following offsite outreach events:
Oct. 1 – Pleistocene Palooza – 1000 People
Oct. 6 – Bone ID Workshop for Lake Mead Cultural Team, Law Enforcement, and Nellis Air Force Base. – 35 people
Oct. 8 – Led tour for NV Extension School Naturalists – 12 people
Oct. 15 – Three Corner’s Conference
Nov. 5 – Led tour for Western Division of the Archaeological Conservancy – 20 people

Lost City Museum is open from Wednesday to Sunday from 8:30 am to 4:30 pm.

General Museum Activities Page 13 of 13





MEMORANDUM 

DA TE: 2/16/2023 

NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY MUSEUM LOCATION 

Joe Lombardo I Governor 721 South Moapa Valley Blvd. 

Myron Freedman I Administrator Overton, NV 89040 

LOST CITY MUSEUM MAILING ADDRESS 

Tracey Sprague I Director P.O. Box 807 

Overton, NV 89040 

TO: Robert Stoldal, Chairman 

Board of Museums and History 

THROUGH: Myron Freeman, Administrator 

Division of Museums and History 

FROM: Tracey Sprague, Director 

Lost City Museum 

RE: LCM Docent Council $357.73 restricted donation acceptance 

The Lost City Museum requests acceptance of restricted funds in the amount 

of $357.73 to our Museum Collections Storage fund, BA5038 Cat. 55 as 

requested by the donor. 

---------------------------------------------------

Robert Stoldal, Chairman of the Board of Museums and History Date 

A DIVISION OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM AND CULTURAL AFFAIRS 

LOSTCITYMUSEUM.ORG 









MEMORANDUM 

DA TE: 2/16/2023 

NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY MUSEUM LOCATION 

Joe Lombardo I Governor 721 South Moapa Valley Blvd. 

Myron Freedman I Administrator Overton, NV 89040 

LOST CITY MUSEUM MAILING ADDRESS 

Tracey Sprague I Director P.O. Box 807 

Overton, NV 89040 

TO: Robert Stoldal, Chairman 

Board of Museums and History 

THROUGH: Myron Freeman, Administrator 

Division of Museums and History 

FROM: Tracey Sprague, Director 

Lost City Museum 

RE: LCM Docent Council $375.00 restricted donation acceptance 

The Lost City Museum requests acceptance of restricted funds in the amount of 

$375.00 to our Museum Collections Storage fund, BA5038 Cat. 55 as requested 

by the donor. 

---------------------------------------------------

Robert Stoldal, Chairman of the Board of Museums and History Date 

A DIVISION OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM AND CULTURAL AFFAIRS 

LOSTCITYMUSEUM.ORG 







MEMORANDUM 

DA TE: 2/16/2023 

NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY MUSEUM LOCATION 

Joe Lombardo I Governor 721 South Moapa Valley Blvd. 

Myron Freedman I Administrator Overton, NV 89040 

LOST CITY MUSEUM MAILING ADDRESS 

Tracey Sprague I Director P.O. Box 807 

Overton, NV 89040 

TO: Robert Stoldal, Chairman 

Board of Museums and History 

THROUGH: Myron Freeman, Administrator 

Division of Museums and History 

FROM: Tracey Sprague, Director 

Lost City Museum 

RE: Unrestricted Donation acceptance 

The Lost City Museum has received a check in the amount of $16,666.67 from the 

Robert J. Caproni and Joyce N. Caproni Revocable Trust. The funds have been 

disbursed to the Museum without restriction.  

---------------------------------------------------

Robert Stoldal, Chair:nan of the Board of Museums and History Date 

A DIVISION OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM AND CULTURAL AFFAIRS 

LOSTCITYMUSEUM.ORG 









NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY NEVADA STATE MUSEUM LAS VEGAS

Joe Lombardo| Governor 309 S. Valley View Blvd

Myron Freedman | Administrator Las Vegas, NV 89107

Hollis J. Gillespie | Director

NEVADA STATE MUSEUM, LAS VEGAS

REPORT TO THE
BOARD OF MUSEUMS AND HISTORY March 9, 2023



Nevada State Museum Las Vegas
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

State Fiscal Year 2023 
12/31/2022 Column1 Column2 Column3 Column4 GL /Cat#

SFY 2023 
Budget

Actuals 
YTD

Percentage 
YTD

Cash From Prev Fiscal Year 2511 161,886 161,886 100.00%
Cash Bal Fwrd New Fiscal Year 2512 0 0 0.00%

Comparison of Revenues Budgeted/ Received:
Photo Sales 4010 65 0 0.00%
Memberships* 4008 3,460 1,000 28.90%
Merchandise Sales* 4025 50,000 20,588 41.18%
Gifts & Donations 4251 2,000 342 17.10%
Private Grants 4265 15,000 966 6.44%
Treasurer's Interest 4326 1,500 479 31.92%

Total Revenues: $72,025 $23,374 32.45%

Comparison of Expenditures Budgeted/Expended:
Administration 35 38,102 2,719 7.14%
Collections 39 1,000 0 0.00%
Natural History 47 1,500 0 0.00%
Board Appr Special Projects 48 121,584 3,003 2.47%
Museum Store* 49 30,617 8,855 28.92%
Special Projects (Restricted) 55 41,106 0 0.00%

Total Expenditures: $233,909 $14,577 38.53%

I. Private Funds Budget Summary B/A 5039

Budget Summary Page 2 of 12



Nevada State Museum Las Vegas
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Revenue/Expenditure Comparison Narrative:  

Report is through December 31,2022.
* Further detail available in the  identified sections.

Most of the variance between projected and year to date reflect the slow rate of hiring baseline staff positions. Fixed expenses are not fully  matched by 
revenues, Yet, there has been increasing visitation and store sales from last July that are encouraging signs that we may end up in good territory by the end of 
fourth quarter. Moreover, in FY 23, approvals to begin hiring vacant positions were issued and hiring is expected to be completed by the end of 3rd quarte. This 
should position the museum better to fulfill revenue goals. 

Budget Summary Page 3 of 12



Nevada State Museum Las Vegas
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

      
Gross store sales revenue  comparison against three previous fiscal years.
Fiscal Year July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL

FY 23 $3,511 $3,431 $4,880 $2,911 $3,495 $2,359 $20,588
FY 22 $3,386 $4,234 $3,633 $3,586 $5,900 $2,761 $2,752 $5,571 $6,158 $6,008 $6,369 $4,688 $55,045
FY 21 $836 $40 $329 $878 $643 $0 $0 $0 $1,560 $4,032 $5,038 $3,976 $17,334
FY 20 $4,133 $4,975 $2,843 $4,191 $2,944 $5,726 $3,939 $4,431 $3,163 $0 $0 $0 $36,344

YTD $3,511 $6,942 $11,822 $14,733 $18,229 $20,588 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $20,588

103.69% 91.11% 105.06% 99.29% 87.90% 87.61% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

103.69% 81.04% 134.32% 81.17% 59.25% 85.45% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.

Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Store sales chart comparison against previous fiscal years.
Chart will be updated for next scheduled Board of Museums and History meeting.

II. Museum Store Sales

MONTHLY COMPARISON

YTD COMPARISON

Museum Store Page 4 of 12



Nevada State Museum Las Vegas
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Store Profit and Loss Chart

FY2023 Revenues Expenditures Total Net  % Net 

Merchandise Personnel Oper/Other Expenditure Profit (Loss) Profit (Loss)

July 3,511          -                  -              -              -              3,511            100.0%
August 3,431          -                  -              -              -              3,431            100.0%
September 4,880          589                  -              -              589             4,291            87.9%
October 2,911          778                  -              -              778             2,133            73.3%
November 3,495          431                  -              -              431             3,064            87.7%
December 2,359          -                  -              7,057          7,057          (4,698)           (199.1%)
January -              -              -               0.0%
February -              -              -               0.0%
March -              -              -               0.0%
April -              -              -               0.0%
May -              -              -               0.0%
June -              -              -               0.0%

FY23 Total 20,588        1,798               -              7,057          8,855          11,732          57.0%

FY22 Total 55,045        15,090             -              20,020        35,110        19,935          36.2%
FY21 Total 17,334        402                  -              1,580          1,982          15,352          88.6%
FY20 Total 36,342        21,670             -              2,931          24,600        11,742          32.3%

Museum Store Sales Narrative:

The late opening of the FY 23 Museum Store purchasing budget limited the amount of inventory purchases in the first quarter. Completing the second 
quarter, sales declined as the funding for the store Manpower employee was charged against the store budget. This had not been so before and was not 
anticipated. As a result, we may need to request additional budget authority to enable the store  to purchase inventory for the remainder of the fiscal year. 
With the addition of an online store, and increased inventory, we expect a bounce in sales to recoup any recent declines. 

Museum Store Page 5 of 12



Nevada State Museum Las Vegas
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Figures

Memberships (new and renewals) chart comparison against previous fiscal years.

Membership TOTAL

Categories New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew Combined
Individual 4 2 3 0 7 2 9
Family 6 2 7 2 13 4 17
Sustaining 0 1 0 2 0 3 3
Contributing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Patron 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Benefactor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Senior 4 0 2 2 6 2 8
Student 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
FY 23 14 5 12 6 0 0 0 0 26 11 37
FY 22 3 8 5 15 3 4 9 17 20 44 64
FY 21 7 13 9 5 3 4 12 31 32 54 86
FY 20 18 41 7 23 6 15 0 31 31 110 141
YTD 14 5 26 11 26 11 26 11 26 11 37

466.67% 62.50% 325.00% 47.83% 236.36% 40.74% 130.00% 25.00%

466.67% 62.50% 240.00% 40.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

TOTAL

IV.          	Membership Program

Qtr 1
July - Sep

Qtr 2
Oct - Dec

Qtr 3
Jan - Mar

Qtr 4
April - June

YTD COMPARISON

QUARTERLY COMPARISON

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.

Quarterly Comparison compares the current quarter of the current year against the same quarter in the previous year.

Membership Program Page 6 of 12



Nevada State Museum Las Vegas
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Sales

Membership sales  comparison against three previous fiscal years.       

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23 $0 $0 $655 $255 $90 $0 $1,000
FY 22 $0 $370 $180 $370 $120 $230 $135 $240 $140 $110 $410 $80 $2,385
FY 21 $215 $20 $55 $330 $315 $170 $0 $100 $525 $640 $760 $330 $3,460
FY 20 $940 $885 $745 $2,190 $2,105 $1,070 $521 $129 $380 $0 $0 $0 $8,965

YTD $0 $0 $655 $910 $1,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,000

#DIV/0! 0.00% 119.07% 98.90% 96.14% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

#DIV/0! 0.00% 363.69% 68.92% 75.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

Membership Program Page 7 of 12



Nevada State Museum Las Vegas
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Program Narrative

The museum memberhip program continues with slow improvement simply because there is no available staff to move this forward now. As 
the museum begins filling its multiple vacancies, membership will be a priority for a new Museum Attendant and Adminitrative Assistant 3,
guided by the Administrative Assistant IV. Moreover, visitor choice of  Springs Preserve Membership and a Museum Membership with 
reciprocal entry cannabalizes our ability to differentiate our unique mission and comparative benefits.

Membership Program Page 8 of 12



Nevada State Museum Las Vegas
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Attendance chart comparison against three previous fiscal years.

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23 5106 4556 3493 3429 4027 2459 5325 28395
FY 22 1926 2287 3012 4382 4901 3444 3753 4562 4602 7064 6155 4228 50316
FY 21 350 0 204 0 0 0 0 0 128 2952 4247 2552 10433
FY 20 6709 6598 4774 7734 6502 4724 5131 6221 0 0 0 0 48393
YTD 5,106 9,662 13,155 16,584 20,611 23,070 28,395 0 0 0 0 0 28,395

265.11% 229.34% 182.08% 142.88% 124.85% 115.63% 119.78% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

265.11% 199.21% 115.97% 78.25% 82.17% 71.40% 141.89% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Attendance Receipts
July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL

FY 23 $0 $53,740 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $53,740
FY 22 $53,172 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $53,172
FY 21 $53,172 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $53,172
FY 20 $53,172 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $53,172
YTD 0 53,740 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 53,740

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

0.00% #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0!

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

V.           	Museum Attendance

Attendance Page 9 of 12



Nevada State Museum Las Vegas
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Attendance Narrative:  

Museum Attendance shows the highest levels of visitors since the pandemic. While still not on par with FY20, given the limit to 
programs and events resulting from staff vacancies, the museum has recovered nicely. Another positive note, we confirmed 
our March teacher open house which usually attracts upwards of 150 new teachers to introduce them to the museum and 
school programs.We’re holding our own despite not having a Learning and Community Engagement curator to champion our 
outreach efforts. I think once that person is in place, and can re-establish promotional and programming processes with the 
community and with our new Carson City  PR people, I think patronage will take off. We’ve hung in there without the needed 
resources, so imagine what will happen when we have someone really focused on it!

Attendance Page 10 of 12



Nevada State Museum Las Vegas
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

VI.   Fundraising Activities:  

We continue to work closely with the Friends of the Nevada State Museum, Las Vegas to focus fundraising efforts. Last Quarter, we reported the 
largest grant ever to be used for transporting Museums in a Box to K-12 Classrooms. We can verify that last year, we engaged with nearly 23,000 
students through the MIAB program- and yet this undercounts the number of teachers that share their 'boxes" with other classrooms that are not 
part of the census. The Friends also recieved a $10,000 grant from a private foundation with offices in Hawaii, California, and Nevada to be 
restricted to museum education. Meanwhile, with Josef Diaz on board, he and I have begun to meet with prospective community leaders and 
donors to position the museum for future awards. We know that the Nevada State Bank intends to make an unrestricted donation to the 
museum, probably in the third quarter. 

Fund Raising Page 11 of 12



Nevada State Museum Las Vegas
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

VII    General Museum Activities

Curatorial Report

Josef Diaz, Curator of History and Material Culture continues to do research and planning of two exhibits scheduled for this summer and next year. They are Liberace: Real 
and Beyond opening in June of 2023 and The Old Spanish Trail opening in January 2024. There will be a robust schedule of public programs to accompany each exhibit. 

A search for a new museum registrar was conducted in January and a new hire should be in place by late February 2024.
A case exhibit is being developed with the material that belonged to Gloria Dey – the first magician to perform on The Strip in the 1940s. This will open May 2023.

Several photo requests were completed that included Boyd productions, CNN, and ABC News Studios.

Facilities Report
In late October, early November, a transformer serving the entire Springs site failed owing to rodent damage. To repair the issue, the museum had to undergo several full 
power cuts. Even though the shutdowns were staged properly by Springs Electricans, the museum has had a cascade of electical failures and subsequent supply chain 
problems getting parts for repair. The Springs experts say there is no connection between the power failure and our cascade of electrical/mechanical problems, we are 
dealing with several critical  building functions being removed from service. For example, there has been no passenger elevator since early November, The fire risers power 
pump failed and that took multiple contractor visits and delays to normalize and return to code. An important building generator burned out and needed an emergency call 
out to restore. Some of these issues have been fixed but others, including he elevator remain out of order. 
The multi million dollar central plant replacement project convened in December to review final plans for construction and staging. The general contractor, US Mechanical 
began work the first week of Jan 23 and hope to have all elements subtantially complete by Summer, depending on any shipping delays. 

General Museum Activities Page 12 of 12



NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY NEVADA STATE MUSEUM

Joe Lombardo | Governor 600 North Carson Street

Myron Freedman | Administrator Carson City, NV 89701

Joshua Bonde Ph.D. | Director

NEVADA STATE MUSEUM

REPORT TO THE
BOARD OF MUSEUMS AND HISTORY March 9, 2023



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

State Fiscal Year 2023 
12/31/2022 Column1 Column2 Column3 Column4 GL /Cat#

SFY 2023 
Budget

Actuals 
YTD

Percentage 
YTD

Cash From Prev Fiscal Year 2511 605,095 605,095 100.00%
Cash Bal Fwrd New Fiscal Year 2512 0 0 0.00%

Comparison of Revenues Budgeted/ Received:
Facilities Charg 3801 4,450 1,670 37.53%
Anthropology Fees 3871 60,000 2,467 4.11%
Coin Press Sales 3872 200,000 6,924 3.46%
Memberships* 4008 20,760 12,121 58.39%
Photograph Sales 4010 2,945 598 20.31%
Merchandise Sales* 4025 177,964 86,639 48.68%
Gifts & Donations 4251 4,228 3,919 92.69%
Private Grants 4265 25,000 11,683 46.73%
Treasurer's Interest 4326 2,836 1,771 62.43%
Outside Bank Acct (MS) 4454 10,868 10,868 100.00%

Total Revenues: $509,051 $138,659 27.24%

Comparison of Expenditures Budgeted/Expended:
Anthropology 37 15,000 571 3.81%
Natural History 39 10,000 250 2.50%
Administration 41 59,901 3,622 6.05%
Education 42 6,542 4,602 70.35%
Exhibits 43 15,000 5,461 36.41%
History 45 18,648 2,012 10.79%
Board Appr Special Projects 48 415,662 0 0.00%
Museum Store* 49 185,297 71,705 38.70%
Coin Press  50 74,928 100 0.13%
Special Projects (Restricted) 55 182,209 30,323 16.64%
Restr Collection Storage Maint 56 130,959 3,184 2.43%

Total Expenditures: $1,114,146 $121,830 10.93%

I. Private Funds Budget Summary B/A 5036

Budget Summary Page 2 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Revenue/Expenditure Comparison Narrative:  

Report is through December 31, 2022.
* Further detail available in the  identified sections.

At the conclusion of Q2 overall revenue is at ~27% of projections, this is due in large part to Coin Press #1 being down the entire year thus far. The limited revenue 
from the Coin Press Program is the Museum Store purchasing existing inventory from the program. Despite not having the Coin Press activity revenue, the Museum 
Store is performing to projections, and membership revenue is exceeding projections. The Museum is open 5 days a week and word is getting out that the Museum 
is open on Sundays. The Museum store is also seeing an uptick in sales on Sundays with the increase in attendance. Although revenue is down, the Museum 
expenditures fell well within the existing revenue.

Budget Summary Page 3 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

      
Gross store sales revenue  comparison against three previous fiscal years.
Fiscal Year July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL

FY 2023 $11,053 $17,168 $17,911 $12,822 $17,059 $10,626 $86,639
FY 2022 $24,757 $29,777 -$21,384 $6,694 $9,388 $6,228 $8,089 $14,220 $16,158 $13,638 $16,444 $14,152 $138,162
FY 2021 $26,205 -$779 $22,992 -$13,098 $33,232 $3,044 $6,926 $15,963 $11,946 $13,451 $32,779 $25,302 $177,964
FY 2020 $28,512 $81,778 $29,889 $16,118 $18,073 $14,698 $7,092 $17,194 $3,879 $0 $0 $3,099 $220,331

YTD $11,053 $28,221 $46,132 $58,954 $76,013 $86,639 $86,639 $86,639 $86,639 $86,639 $86,639 $86,639 $86,639

44.65% 51.75% 139.16% 147.96% 154.40% 156.22% 136.33% 111.40% 92.24% 80.55% 69.86% 62.71%

44.65% 57.65% -83.76% 191.55% 181.70% 170.61% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.

Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Store sales chart comparison against previous fiscal years.
Chart will be updated for next scheduled Board of Museums and History meeting.

II. Museum Store Sales

MONTHLY COMPARISON

YTD COMPARISON

Museum Store Page 4 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Store Profit and Loss Chart

FY2023 Revenues Expenditures Total Net  % Net 

Merchandise Personnel Oper/Other Expenditure Profit (Loss) Profit (Loss)

July 11,053         -                   1,720           -               1,720           9,333            84.4%
August 17,168         -                   4,208           -               4,208           12,960          75.5%
September 17,911         7,558               6,084           1,594           15,237         2,675            14.9%
October 12,822         14,556             4,351           930              19,837         (7,015)            (54.7%)
November 17,059         9,747               4,349           2,092           16,189         870               5.1%
December 10,626         9,348               4,424           743              14,514         (3,888)            (36.6%)
January -              -              -                0.0%
February -              -              -                0.0%
March -              -              -                0.0%
April -              -              -                0.0%
May -              -              -                0.0%
June -              -              -                0.0%

FY23 Total 86,639         41,210             25,137         5,359           71,705         14,933          17.2%

FY22 Total 138,162      58,450             63,695         5,961           128,106      10,056          7.3%
FY21 Total 177,964      59,764             64,778         2,808           127,350      50,614          28.4%
FY20 Total 220,331      79,293             68,694         9,598           157,585      62,746          28%

Museum Store Page 5 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Store Sales Narrative:
The Museum Store is continuing to build strong relationships with local vendors, bringing in new merchandise. Signing up new vendors.
The Store has put more effort into logo merch and working with staff on new labels, images and descriptions of new prodocts. The Store is bringing in 

merchandise that relates to Nevada and to our Museum. The Store Manager is keeping the store open after-hours during lectures and special events. The 
Store is having special sales, and promotions on social media. The Store staff constantly rotate Store merchandise and work to engage with customers to 
create a welcoming atmosphere. The Store staff are doing a good job of keeping the shelves stocked with an eye towards having something for everyone.

The Museum Store out performed last years Q2 numbers, nearly doubling sales over FY22. The only year which outperforms the FY23 Q2 sales is FY20, pre-
pandemic. Revenue is down slightly from Q1 due to a number of purchase orders being placed to restock  merchandise. Overall the Museum Store is still 
17% profitable on the year and staying on pace with sales projections, despite Coin Press No. 1 being down the entire year. Once Coin Press No. 1 is back in 
service I expect Store revenues to rapidly exceed projections.

New Products:

New confection and Logo'd Mug 3-D historic Mint ornament New local sourced apparel

Museum Store Page 6 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Figures

Memberships (new and renewals) chart comparison against previous fiscal years.

Membership TOTAL

Categories New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew Combined
Individual 3 25 5 10 8 35 43
Family 14 53 14 36 28 89 117
Sustaining 2 16 4 13 6 29 35
Contributing 0 2 0 1 0 3 3
Patron 1 1 0 0 1 1 2
Benefactor 0 2 0 2 0 4 4
Senior 19 69 9 30 28 99 127
Student 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
FY 23 39 168 32 92 0 0 0 0 71 260 331
FY 22 28 36 33 53 56 196 31 94 148 379 527
FY 21 34 60 13 89 21 91 23 87 91 327 418
FY 20 59 122 26 101 65 137 0 0 150 360 510
YTD 39 168 71 260 71 260 71 260 71 260 331

139.29% 466.67% 116.39% 292.13% 60.68% 91.23% 47.97% 68.60%

139.29% 466.67% 96.97% 173.58% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

TOTAL

IV.          	Membership Program

Qtr 1
July - Sep

Qtr 2
Oct - Dec

Qtr 3
Jan - Mar

Qtr 4
April - June

YTD COMPARISON

QUARTERLY COMPARISON

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.

Quarterly Comparison compares the current quarter of the current year against the same quarter in the previous year.

Membership Program Page 7 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Sales

Membership sales  comparison against three previous fiscal years.       

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23 $195 $5,915 $915 $475 $2,328 $2,294 $12,121
FY 22 $760 $785 $1,800 $705 $2,240 $1,275 $2,535 $4,380 $4,925 $1,955 $1,710 $1,295 $24,365
FY 21 $995 $395 $1,380 $4,870 $430 $1,420 $875 $1,420 $1,790 $2,390 $2,140 $2,655 $20,760
FY 20 $1,545 $4,360 $1,840 $2,355 $835 $1,695 $3,405 $1,835 $5,245 $0 $0 $0 $23,115

YTD $195 $6,110 $7,025 $7,500 $9,828 $12,121 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $12,121

389.74% 395.47% 210.01% 185.19% 156.24% 160.23% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

25.66% 753.50% 50.83% 67.38% 103.92% 179.89% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

Membership Program Page 8 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Program Narrative

We had 9 Upgraded Memberships during the Quarter: 4-Family, 4-Sustaining & 1 Senior (Added Spouse for $40 Membership vs. $20). Membership 
numbers remain strong, especially renewal numbers. During Q2 we hosted a Members-only reception for the reintroduction of the Fremont Cannon 
going back on display. We are trying to add more members exclusive content to increase the value of membership. 

Membership Program Page 9 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Attendance chart comparison against three previous fiscal years.

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23        2,911        2,581        2,360        3,769        2,632        1,373      15,626 
FY 22        3,360        2,069        1,353        1,654        1,657           906           990        1,251        1,798        2,472        2,307        2,573      22,390 
FY 21 1,567 1,338 1,380 1,250 240 581 716 943 1,323 1,553 1,886 2,452      15,229 
FY 20 4,781 3,204 2,901 5,509 2,436 1,373 1,678 3,579 1,065 890 410 350      28,176 
YTD 2,911 5,492 7,852 11,621 14,253 15,626 0 0 0 0 0 0 15,626

86.64% 101.16% 115.78% 137.75% 141.22% 142.07% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

86.64% 124.75% 174.43% 227.87% 158.84% 151.55% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Attendance Receipts
July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL

FY 23 $16,917 $22,028 $16,410 $15,050 $11,335 $5,440 $87,180
FY 22 $16,134 $15,624 $7,280 $7,888 $9,916 $3,716 $8,020 $7,470 $11,916 $12,270 $11,790 $17,930 $129,955
FY 21 $8,256 $8,368 $8,592 $8,656 $1,432 $2,856 $3,552 $4,778 $7,408 $9,236 $10,572 $18,387 $92,093
FY 20 $23,060 $18,236 $19,712 $14,936 $8,184 $6,484 $10,172 $14,184 $6,048 $0 $0 -$2,103 $118,913
YTD 16,917 38,945 55,355 70,405 81,740 87,180 0 0 0 0 0 0 87,180

104.85% 122.63% 141.80% 150.03% 143.80% 143.96% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

104.85% 140.99% 225.40% 190.79% 114.31% 146.39% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

V.           	Museum Attendance

Attendance Page 10 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Attendance Narrative:  

Attendance is significantly up from last year. Strong attendance numbers are on pace to surpass pre-COVID numbers. With the increase in 
attendance costs and the increased foot traffic Q2 admissions revenue surpassed FY22 Q2 by approximately $10,000; and year to date 
FY23 is out performing FY22 by approximately $25,000. Increased presence on social media, being open an additional day of the week, and 
post-COVID reemergence could all be contributing factors to the success at the front door.

Attendance Page 11 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

VI.   Fundraising Activities:  

Towards the end of December we put out an Annual Appeal Letter to 1,200 contacts of the Museum. The letter was an appeal to help the 
incoming Exhibits Manager have seed funds for new projects. As of the end of December the annual appeal had raised ~$6,000.

The Museum applied for a Nevada Humanities Grant to support cultural programming and was awarded $7,250!

Fund Raising Page 12 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

VII    General Museum Activities

Personnel
Custodian 2 Seth Johnson began in September; Exhibits Manager Laurel Weil was promoted from Exhibits Preparator 2 in December. Searches for the Curator of 
Education neared completion.

New personnel: Exhibits Manager Laurel Weil
in the Ghost Town exhibit

Education and Outreach 
The education team continued to welcome school groups in for tours of the NSM and the Captiol Building. Education staff also ran two Family Fun Saturday events.

Education team volunteers have continued to run tours for the public of the Capitol.

Events
For Q2 the Museum hosted 2 Francis Humphrey Lectures
On the Trail of the Jackalope, Michael Branch
The Silver State goes to War, Ken Beaton and Steve Ranson
Both lectures were well attended and received. The FHLS continues to be hosted in the Dema Guinn Concourse.

A lively Nevada Day was celebrated at the Museum with the Saturday Free Day seeing attendance for the day near 1,200 visitors!

In early November the Museum hosted Dia de los Muertos. The event included a Friday evening presentation of 9 community Offrendas with live music. Saturday 
festivities included live performances by 5 local dance and musical groups. It was a free day for the Museum and we hosted 813 guests over the two day event. A 
huge success and celebration of Mexican-American Culture.

General Museum Activities Page 13 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Curator's Corners were presented in October and November and featured Dr. George Baumgardner discussing bats, & Dr. Gene Hattori discussing the Fremont 
Cannon.

A members and VIP only exhibit openning event was held in November with an amazing turnout of over 150 guests.

Exhibits Department
Installed Fremont Cannon (including text panels)
Dayton GATE visit created and presented lesson plan for building exhibits and attended subsequent school museum opening
Helped with Nevada Day (text panels for the Mansion, Coin Press signs, and help on the day), assisted with transport and installation of objects and text panels
Curator’s Corner sign
Set up/take down for Día de los Muertos
Assisted with wrap up NV Humanities grant

General exhibit maintenance: Changing lights and inventory/ordering lights, repaired prospector button in Ghost Town, repaired mine exhibit rock wall, repaired 
bighorn sheep touch exhibit

Left: Dancers at the Dia de los Muertos event
Right: Fremont Cannon back on display

Guests enjoying the Fremont Cannon Reception

General Museum Activities Page 14 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

   

Worked with facilities to replace fluorescent lighting and wiring in Ghost Town with LED light fixtures and new wiring.
Mint History exhibit (printing, mounting panels), researching and consulting with vendors for materials for timeline
Planning Basketry Gallery & preparing space for exhibit: Facilitated LED retrofit for 5 fiber optic projector units for Glass Bahaun cases with Briggs Electric, worked 
with facilities to move fire extinguisher and security light, paint, texture and patch walls. researching and consulting with vendors for materials for mounts etc.
Recorded, edited, and posted 2 Curator’s Corner episodes to YouTube Channel: Prehistoric Giant Sloths & Fortuny Gown
Formatted, rendered, and posted 2 Frances Humphrey recordings to YouTube channel
Replaced lights, repaired, and painted 2 store display cases for museum store
Created CAD plan of South Gallery

History Department
SUMMARY
Steady work with loans, accessions, donation offers, and research requests. Attend meetings, candidate presentations, contribute to Social media and Curator’s 
Corner’s, pull artifacts for Josh’s media presentations. 

ACCESSIONS 
Accessions = 11, Objects = 9735 (CRM accessions account for 9676 objects)

LOANS
Loans Current = 54

PAST PERFECT - PastPerfect Records updated = 3608

MANPOWER & VOLUNTEERS
Manpower workers: Eileen Lavelle, Gabi Fernandez, Cathleen Allison
Volunteer hours: 12, Peggy Sweetland 

October Highlights
Stewart airport exhibit loan
Governor’s Mansion Nevada Day loan
Assist Resource Concepts with history research and material regarding Lee/Guild house, which burned October 19th. 

NMA Conference
Had Halsey Saddle and Martingale treated and polished

November Highlights
Continue with inventory and re-housing artifacts.

 

General Museum Activities Page 15 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Continue with inventory and re housing artifacts.
AAM work

December Highlights
Strategic Plan drafting
Work with Laurel to begin clearing out Upper South Gallery
Work on Governor’s Mansion and Governor’s Office Loans. 

Marjorie Russel Textile Research Center
BEHIND THE SCENES, TOURS AND PROGRAMS

Meet w NSM Friends – 1920s fashions – 10 people
Antique Quilt guild – 7 people

CONSULTATIONS/REQUEST REQUESTS
Janet Anders – Coptic textiles
Pam Elder –
Lorraine  - Winters family clothing

Muriel Dickey – military uniforms
Denise Koster – quilts
Dina Wood – UNR student 
Vicki Ford – Caughlin artifacts
Stephanie Fry – Harrah’s Auto Museum 

SOCIAL MEDIA/CURATOR’S CORNER
Paper dresses, 1902s beaded dresses

GRANTS

LOANS ANDS EXHIBITION ASSISTANCE
Remove existing garments and replace w new garments in Nevada Stories

Assisted Carson City Historical Society w mannequins/mounting costumes
First Lady Presents – mount and install mannequin, Gov Mansion

COLLECTIONS
W k  b i  d h l i ll  i i  t

General Museum Activities Page 16 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Work on numbering and chronologically organizing garments
Past Perfect – de-accession list
Work w Registrar on finding/identifying/photographing artifacts

PROJECTS
Re-do previous purchase orders for Steel Fixture cabinetry
Unload and install 9 Steel Fixture cabinets

Manpower application for Aurora Dansie

MEETINGS
Attended International Council of Museums (ICOM) conference – Prague, Czech Republic

Anthropology Quarterly Report October – December 2022
Anna
NAGPRA
Repatriated five individuals to the Lovelock Tribe 
Repatriated one individual to Washoe Tribe
Met with the Lovelock Paiute Tribe to meet with THPO (NAGPRA)
Met with Rochanne Down’s UNR NAGPRA Coordinator 
Met with Debra Brastoff to discuss NHS’ NAGPRA repatriations
Met with Carolyn White UNR Anthropology Museum Director to discuss NAGPRA
Meeting with Madeline Van der Voort (BLM) to discuss Assistance Agreement and NAGPRA
Other Activities
Social Media Posts-4
Assisted VA Recreational Therapy group to photograph vault basketry
Assisted Crysta Burr from VA with Women Veteran’s photo exhibit
Guest lecture at UNR on NAGPRA (People’s and Cultures class with Madalina Alama)
Guest Lecture at UNR on Museum work and NAGPRA (Cultural Anthropology with Christine Johnson)
Guest Lecture at UNR on Museum work and NAGPRA (Museum Collections class with Carolyn White)

Rachel
Prepare NSM’s Final Report for FY22 NV Humanities grant.
Prepare for Lei Day.
Prepare social media post-1

Gene
Fremont Cannon: talk at Osher Lifelong Learning Institute, Curator’s Corner, and Social Media post
Anna, April, Gene
Behind the Scenes basketry tours-8+

Natural History Department
Behind the Scenes tours for the Museum Studies Class from UNR.
P d  ti l  f  th  NSM N l tt  di  th  b t h I h l  ith i  S t b  

General Museum Activities Page 17 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

          
Prepared an article for the NSM Newsletter regarding the bat research I help with in September. 
Gave Curators Corner presentation attended by approximately 20 visitors.

Began updating NSM Emergency Response Plan
Assisteted NDOW and NDOM with bat surveys

Facilities Department
Quarterly Report: October, November, and December 2022

Facilities Department had a busy quarter. HVAC units were all serviced for the coming winter months at all locations. All heaters are operational. Exterior grounds 
are being maintained for the winter weather. Part-time Security Officer position was posted. Interviews will begin in January. The museum attendance is picking up 
on Sundays. 

The main goal for this quarter is winterizing. With the wet weather, facilities staff are checking all prone leaking areas. Resealing where needed. Extra sandbags were 
filled and on standby in case of major flooding. A few sandbags were placed as a precautionary. On the interior, we are continuing to go through the facility everyday 
disinfecting all common areas. Doing our part to maintain a safe environment for our visitors.

Below is a brief breakdown for the quarter:

October:

Facilities:
Rooftop HVAC quarterly servicing
Orkin pest control monthly service
Koch elevators monthly service
Prepare for Nevada Day (Friday and Saturday)

Admissions:
Weekend average is 150-175 visitors 
Nevada Day weekend (Friday & Saturday) visitation

550 on Friday
1100 on Saturday

November:

Facilities:
Orkin pest control monthly service
Koch elevator monthly service
Quarterly emergency generator service and test
Fire Suppression System deficiencies, retested and corrected
Fremont Cannon Event

General Museum Activities Page 18 of 19



Nevada State Museum
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

  

Admissions:
Weekend average is 125 – 150 visitors
Thanksgiving weekend (Friday through Sunday) 150 visitors each day

December:

Facilities:
Orkin Pest Control monthly service
Koch Elevator monthly service
Interior Fan coil units filter change (27 units)
Snow removal (all three facilities)
Monitoring power outage in the area for all three locations

Admissions:
Weekend average is 100-150 visitors
Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve visitation 150-200 visitors

Research
Collaborative
Curator of Natural History Dr. Baumgardner participated in a bat survey at Fort Churchill State Park

Papers/Abstracts
Dr. Gene Hattori and Dr. Anna Camp
Camp, A., Hattori, E., and Barker, P. 2022, Fiber Artifacts, in Geoff Smith eds. In the Shadow of the Steamboat: A Natural and Cultural History of North Warner Valley 
Oregon, University of Utah Anthropological Papers #137.
Dr. Joshua Bonde

Bonde, J., Hall, B., Krumenaker, L., and Varricchio, D., 2022, Nevadadromeus schmitt (gen. et sp. nov.), a New Basal Neornithischian with affinities to the 
Thescelosaurinae, from the Upper Cretaceous (Cenomanian) Willow Tank Formation of southern Nevada, Journal of the Arizona-Nevada Acedemy of Science, v. 50 
pp. 1-8.
Fetrow, A., Snell, K., Di Fiori, R., Long, S., Bonde, J., and Suarez, M., 2022, Mid-Cretaceous Sevier Hinterland at Low Surface Elevation based on Carbonate Clumped 
Isotopes, Geological Society of America Abtracts with Programs, v. 54 (5). 

Mission
The Nevada State Museum engages diverse audiences in understanding and celebrating Nevada’s natural and cultural heritage.
The museum preserves heritage for long-term public benefit.
The museum presents heritage through unique and authentic educational experiences, enhanced by an environment of comfort, interaction, and inspiration.
Audiences learn what makes Nevada special.  They gain stronger identity, connection, and validation.  They develop a broader point of view and a sense of 
responsibility.

General Museum Activities Page 19 of 19



















NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY 
Joe Lombardo | Governor 

Myron Freedman | Administrator 

NEVADA STATE MUSEUM 
CARSON CITY 

Joshua Bonde, Ph.D. | Director 
600 North Carson Street 

Carson City, NV 89701 

A Division of Nevada Department of Tourism And Cultural Affairs | carsonnvmuseum.org 

MEMORANDUM 

3/1/2023 

To: Board of Museums and History 

From: Joshua Bonde, Director 

Re: Request for Free Admission Event 

The Northern Nevada Science and Technology Festival is a region-wide event to bring awareness to the 

public of STEM and STEAM fields in the region. It is organized by an association of government and 

non-profit organizations along with industry representatives. In years past festivities have centered 

around the Reno/Sparks area, this year the organizers would like to expand to Carson City and other 

surrounding communities. On the evening of April 28th we would like to host a free to the public “Science 

is Everywhere” event. The event would be from 4:00 pm-8:00 pm so families could come in after parents 

get off work. In our main concourse we would present small table top science demonstrations/crafts, and 

welcome our other Carson City museums to attend and participate as they see fit. 

Thank you for the consideration, 

Joshua Bonde Ph.D 
Museum Director 

Approval:_______________________________________Date:___________________
   Robert Stoldal, Board Chairman



NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY 

Joe Lombardo | Governor 
Myron Freedman | Administrator 

NEVADA STATE MUSEUM 
CARSON CITY 

Josh Bonde | Director 
600 North Carson Street 

Carson City, NV 89701 

A DIVISION OF THE NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM AND CULTURAL AFFAIRS 
CARSONNVMUSEUM.ORG 

Memo 

Date:    February 3, 2023 

To: Robert Stoldal, Chairman 
Board of Museums & History 

From: Josh Bonde, Director 
Nevada State Museum – Carson City 

Re: New Restricted Donation 

The Nevada State Museum, Carson City, has received a $1,000 restricted donation for the 
Education Department. 

The donated funds have been disbursed to the Museum with restriction to use the Education 
Department in support of its outreach and programming activities. These funds will be 
deposited into BA 5036 Cat. 55. 

Approval:  ____________________________________   _____________________ 

  Chairman, Board of Museums & History   Date 



 

NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY 
Steve Sisolak | Governor 

Myron Freedman | Administrator 

NEVADA STATE MUSEUM 
CARSON CITY 

Josh Bonde | Director 
600 North Carson Street 

Carson City, NV 89701 

 

A DIVISION OF THE NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM AND CULTURAL AFFAIRS 
CARSONNVMUSEUM.ORG 

Memo 
 
 
Date:       February 27, 2023 
 
To:  Robert Stoldal, Chairman 
  Board of Museums & History 
 
From:  Josh Bonde, Director 
  Nevada State Museum – Carson City 
 
Re:  New Restricted Donations 

 
The Nevada State Museum, Carson City, to-date between 12/23/22 and 2/22/23, has received 
$12,155 in restricted donations through its Annual Appeal Drive benefitting the Museum’s 
Exhibits department.       
 
The funds have been deposited into Budget Account 5036, Restricted Funds Category 55 under 
Project Code 3615 for Exhibits. 
 

 

Approval:  ____________________________________      _____________________ 

                  Chairman, Board of Museums & History                  Date 
 









































































NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY NEVADA STATE RAILROAD MUSEUM

Joe Lombardo Governor 1100 Avenue A

Myron Freedman | Administrator Ely, NV 89301

Sean Pitts| Director

NEVADA STATE RAILROAD MUSEUM-EAST ELY

REPORT TO THE
BOARD OF MUSEUMS AND HISTORY March 9, 2023



Nevada State Railroad Museum-East Ely
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

State Fiscal Year 2023 
12/31/2022 Column1 Column2 Column3 Column4 GL /Cat#

SFY 2023 
Budget

Actuals 
YTD

Percentage 
YTD

Cash From Prev Fiscal Year 2511 33,898 33,898 100.00%
Cash Bal Fwrd New Fiscal Year 2512 0 0 0.00%

Comparison of Revenues Budgeted/ Received:
Facilities Charge 3801 350 1,400 400.00%
Gifts & Donations 4251 38,098 0 0.00%
Private Grants 4265 5,000 0 0.00%
Outsie Bank Acct 4454 1,368 1,368

Total Revenues: $44,816 $2,768 6.18%

Comparison of Expenditures Budgeted/Expended:
Board Appr Special Projects 48 18,593 0 0.00%
East Ely Railroad 51 17,223 4,375 25.40%
Special Projects (Restricted) 55 9,000 0 0.00%

Total Expenditures: $44,816 $4,375 25.40%
Revenue/Expenditure Comparison Narrative:  

Report is through December 31, 2022.
* Further detail available in the  identified sections.

I. Private Funds Budget Summary B/A 5037-03

Budget Summary Page 2 of 6



Nevada State Railroad Museum-East Ely
Report to the Board
March 9, 2022

Attendance chart 

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23 1145 974 858 565 120 156 75 3893
FY 22 845 930 794 591 298 190 111 158 283 569 875 907 6551
FY 21 710 571 747 626 97 73 102 121 257 471 792 1,089 5656
FY 20 1,117 775 798 570 176 174 110 127 52 0 0 0 3899
YTD 1,145 2,119 2,977 3,542 3,662 3,818 3,893 0 0 0 0 0 3,893

135.50% 119.38% 115.88% 112.09% 105.90% 104.66% 103.56% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

135.50% 104.73% 108.06% 95.60% 40.27% 82.11% 67.57% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

V.           	Museum Attendance

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

Attendance Page 3 of 6



Nevada State Railroad Museum-East Ely
Report to the Board
March 9, 2022

Museum Attendance Narrative:  

NSRM-Ely consists of two buildings, the Depot and Freight Building.  We remain slightly above last year's visitation.  Weather and inflation 
seem to have combined to slow visitation overall to eastern Nevada.  

The Nevada Northern Railway Foundation who unilaterally determined they would not sell tickets for the State's Museum on September 3 
have not been mentioning the State's Museum.  In talking to visitors, the Foundation ticket sellers are not informing visitors about the 
museum, but they discover us through our signage.   We are working on a larger sign to attract more visitors to the upstairs exhibits.  
NSRM-Ely does welcome visitors and provides an enhanced interpretive experience for all who make the effort to find and interact with 
our exhibits and staff.  

Attendance Page 4 of 6



Nevada State Railroad Museum-East Ely
Report to the Board
March 9, 2022

VI.   Fundraising Activities:  

Work continues on the Freight Building's south side walkway funded by a grant from the Great Basin Heritage Area Partnership. More on 
this will be outlined in the General Museum Activities section.

Fund Raising Page 5 of 6



Nevada State Railroad Museum-East Ely
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

VII    General Museum Activities

NSRM-Ely Capital Improvement Projects have continued through the approval chain.  As of this writing, both the Depot Seismic Retrofit and the 
Freight Building Upgrades have made it into the Governor's Recommended Budget.  This is exciting news.  After decades of asking, we are closer 
than ever to funding that will preserve and improve these buildings to an acceptable level.     

The plans for the Freight Building Project have progressed.  We look forward to a funded project that will begin with detailed plans and and a busy 
construction season.  The plans are a result of community meetings that were well attended.  The participants are pleased they were heard and 
their ideas incorporated.  Once completed, the building will be capable of year round use and be a significant benefit to our community.  Leaders 
from tourism, education, business, and heritage organizations have invested heavily in the planning and look forward to completion.  The second CIP 
project will strengthen the 1907 Depot's foundation in what they the engineers call seismic retrofit.  Constructed of sandstone 115 years ago, the 
stone foundation is beginning to deteriorate.  This much needed project will protect and preserve the foundation of the building for another century 
or more.  

The Freight Building Walkway replacement project has hit a snag.  Extreme snow and cold in eastern Nevada has put the project on hold until the 
weather warms.  We are over 400 hours into the project and will resume as soon as the weather allows.  You will recall, the project is funded by a 
$20,000 grant from the Great Basin Heritage Area Partnership which is providing the materials and we supply the labor.  We are three quarters 
completed and only require warmer construction conducive weather to complete the project.  

NSRM-Ely staff have participated in the Travel Nevada opportunity to boost eastern Nevada tourism through the Destination Development 
Demonstration grant funded by the NCOT.  It is an important grant opportunity that funds communities to identify their natural and cultural 
resources, then work with marketing professionals to promote those resources into the future.  Sean participated on the committee of three to 
write the grant and Ely's application was selected as one of six in the State.  He has since been invited to participate on the steering committee of 
the grant as it moves forward. 

We received the disappointing,  but not unexpected news that the neighbor who shares the property with us will be making another attempt to get 
the Legislature to give the Depot and Freight Building back to them.  We had hoped for a more positive outcome and attended a mediation with 
them to resolve some major issues.  While Myron, Brenda, and Public Lands made incredible efforts, the mediation was not successful.  The Division 
and Department will get another opportunity to defend the operation in Ely to the Legislature after four governors and four legislative sessions 
thought it was a bad idea and declined to give it back.  Please inform legislators that, like the other four attempts, this remains a monumentally bad 
idea.

We continue to make progress on many fronts.  As always, I welcome your visit, comments, or concerns.

General Museum Activities Page 6 of 6



NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY NEVADA STATE RAILROAD MUSEUM

Joe Lombardo | Governor 600 Yucca Street

Myron Freedman | Administrator Boulder City, NV 89005

Christopher MacMahon| Director

NEVADA STATE RAILROAD MUSEUM-BOULDER CITY

REPORT TO THE
BOARD OF MUSEUMS AND HISTORY March 9, 2023



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

State Fiscal Year 2023 
12/31/2022 Column1 Column2 Column3 Column4 GL /Cat#

SFY 2023 
Budget

Actuals 
YTD

Percentage 
YTD

Cash From Prev Fiscal Year 2511 347,529 347,529 100.00%
Cash Bal Fwrd New Fiscal Year 2512 0 0 0.00%

Comparison of Revenues Budgeted/ Received:
Facilities Charge 3801 2,000 0 0.00%
Merchandise Sales* 4025 25,732 10,477 40.72%
Gifts & Donations 4251 73 382 523.29%
Private Grants 4265 3,800 0 0.00%
Friends of the RR 4266 1,809 666 36.83%

Total Revenues: $33,414 $11,525 34.49%

Comparison of Expenditures Budgeted/Expended:
Board Appr Special Projects 48 37,349 0 0.00%
Boulder City Railroad 52 24,109 9,736 40.38%
Special Projects (Restricted) 55 319,485 0 0.00%

Total Expenditures: $380,943 $9,736 40.38%

I. Private Funds Budget Summary B/A 5037-02

Budget Summary Page 2 of 14



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Revenue/Expenditure Comparison Narrative:  

Report is through December 31, 2022
* Further detail available in the  identified sections.

Nothing to report.

Budget Summary Page 3 of 14



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

      
Gross store sales revenue  comparison against three previous fiscal years.
Fiscal Year July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL

FY 23 $274 $1,280 $1,183 $4,043 $2,069 $1,629 $10,477
FY 22 $497 $496 $1,329 $1,782 $2,441 $2,539 $1,520 $2,629 $3,079 $3,135 $2,161 $544 $22,155
FY 21 $85 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $647 $732
FY 20 $1,578 $1,042 $1,838 $2,303 $2,307 $4,833 $1,026 $1,653 $952 $0 $0 $0 $17,533

YTD $274 $1,554 $2,737 $6,780 $8,849 $10,477 $10,477 $10,477 $10,477 $10,477 $10,477 $10,477 $10,477

55.15% 156.42% 117.83% 165.18% 135.19% 115.33% 98.80% 79.17% 64.22% 53.87% 48.48% 47.29%

55.15% 257.77% 89.00% 226.91% 84.75% 64.14% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.

Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Store sales chart comparison against previous fiscal years.
Chart will be updated for next scheduled Board of Museums and History meeting.

II. Museum Store Sales

MONTHLY COMPARISON

YTD COMPARISON

Museum Store Page 4 of 14



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Store Profit and Loss Chart

FY2023 Revenues Expenditures Total Net  % Net 

Merchandise Personnel Oper/Other Expenditure Profit (Loss) Profit (Loss)

July 274             -                  -              -              -              274               100.0%
August 1,280          -                  -              30               30               1,250            97.7%
September 1,183          -                  -              1,087          1,087          96                 8.1%
October 4,043          4,128               -              364             4,492          (449)              (11.1%)
November 2,069          -                  -              200             200             1,868            90.3%
December 1,629          3,674               -              253             3,927          (2,298)           (141.1%)
January -              -              -               0.0%
February -              -              -               0.0%
March -              -              -               0.0%
April -              -              -               0.0%
May -              -              -               0.0%
June -              -              -               0.0%

FY23 Total 10,477        7,802               -              1,935          9,736          741               7.1%

FY22 Total 22,155        9,228               4,627          13,855        8,300            37.5%
FY21 Total 732             111                  367             478             254               34.7%
FY20 Total 85,977        45,208             57,275        5,411          107,894      (21,917)         (25.5%)

Museum Store Page 5 of 14



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Store Sales Narrative:
The museum added new apparel in October unique to the museum. In addition to hats and shits with the museum logo, we added shirts for the Jackass & 
Western railroad that operated at the Nevada Test Site. The glow-in-the-dark J&W shirts have proven especially popular. 

The museum continues to experience supply chain delays. Our limited salesfloor and storage space makes us more suseptible to delays because we do not have 
the ability to store stock. Delays and limited merchandise available from vendors led to limited stock during the winter holidays and subsequent lower than 
average sales.

John Walker, who manages the store, has been working the store most weekends to keep costs down.

Museum Store Page 6 of 14



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Figures

Memberships (new and renewals) chart comparison against previous fiscal years.

Membership TOTAL

Categories New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew Combined
Individual 0 0 0
Family 0 0 0
Sustaining 0 0 0
Contributing 0 0 0
Patron 0 0 0
Benefactor 0 0 0
Senior Couple 0 0 0
Senior
Students
Lifetime
FY 23 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
FY 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
FY 21 11 53 9 55 20 105 26 69 66 282 348
FY 20 9 115 10 98 12 72 9 128 40 413 453
YTD 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

YTD COMPARISON

QUARTERLY COMPARISON

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.

Quarterly Comparison compares the current quarter of the current year against the same quarter in the previous year.

TOTAL

IV.          	Membership Program

Qtr 1
July - Sep

Qtr 2
Oct - Dec

Qtr 3
Jan - Mar

Qtr 4
April - June

Membership Program Page 7 of 14



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Program Narrative

NSRMBC has no state membership program.  Instead, individuals wanting to support the museum do so by joining/supporting the Friends of the 
Nevada Southern Railway.  

Total Memberships: 285 representing 695 individuals
Family: 74
Senior Family: 51
Individual: 1
Senior Individual: 14
Volunteer: 137
Honorary: 8

Museum volunteers contributed over 24,000 hours in calendar year 2022.

Membership Program Page 8 of 14



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Attendance chart (Train Ridership Only)

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23 172 877 1,002 5,476 1,301 11,473  $  20,301 
FY 22 395 520 1,072 1,652 1,379 8,679 1246 2218 1685 1503 2935 870 24,154
FY 21 0 0 0 404 306 0 0 93 473 279 1,266 735 3,556
FY 20 791 698 1,459 796 791 7,021 1,272 2,148 716 0 0 0 15,692
YTD 172 1,049 2,051 7,527 8,828 20,301 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,301

43.54% 114.64% 103.22% 206.84% 175.93% 148.21% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

43.54% 168.65% 93.47% 331.48% 94.34% 132.19% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Attendance  Traffic (Display Pavilion Only)
July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL

FY 23 1,957 644 2,601
FY 22 379 469 728 935 1,173 885 0 0 0 4,737 3,567 2,903 15,776
FY 21 1,208 907 1,024 654 424 339 399 502 616 717 936 899 8,625
FY 20 2,380 1,189 594 1,774 1,062 2,865 857 1,502 512 0 0 0 12,735
YTD 0 1,957 2,601 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,601

0.00% 230.78% 165.04% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

0.00% 417.27% 88.46% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

V.           	Museum Attendance

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

Attendance Page 9 of 14



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Attendance Narrative:  

Train Ride Receipts.

The museum continues to experience problems with its beam splitter. A more accurate means of tracking attendence is needed.

Attendance Page 10 of 14



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23 $15,346 $22,171 $15,676 $49,435 $33,057 $117,302 $252,987
FY 22 $8,230 $519 $7,245 $10,748 $9,860 $72,063 $91,776 $13,555 $50,684 $37,050 $55,607 $37,320 $394,657
FY 21 $0 $5,805 $6,075 $10,310 $22,692 $12,285 $16,875 $11,475 $15,891 $12,435 $9,070 $53,971 $176,884
FY 20 $6,507 $4,796 $10,691 $15,200 $36,850 $94,631 $17,680 $20,016 $22,144 $6,135 $0 $0 $234,650
YTD $15,346 $37,517 $53,193 $102,628 $135,685 $252,987 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $252,987

186.5% 428.8% 332.6% 383.8% 370.7% 232.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

186.5% 4271.9% 216.4% 459.9% 335.3% 162.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

Attendance Page 11 of 14



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Train Ride Receipts Narrative:

The second quarter is always the busiest at the museum. October's significantly higher revenue was a result of the Train of Terror addressed in the Museum 
Activities page. 

Rail bike operations ended December 31, 2023. The new rail bike lease will be mapped to a seperate budget line and will no longer be added to train ride 
revenues moving forward. The board should expect to see a drop in train ride revenues in the coming quarters as a result.

Attendance Page 12 of 14



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

VII    General Museum Activities

Nevada Day Weekend: The Board authorized children riding free for Nevada Day weekend and the museum saw a notable uptick in attendance that 
weekend allowing us to celebrate Nevada's history and culture with more guests. Approximately 1,300 guests visited the museum over the weekend, 
with 668 train riders and $1,000 in sales at the museum store. Given last year's success, the museum hopes to make this an annual tradition.

West Coast Railroaders Group: The museum hosted this group of railroad track speeders on Nevada Day Weekend. Display and operation of these 
speeders allowed the museum to discuss inspection and maintenance-of-way as part of railroading in Nevada. Hosting groups like this also helps build 
connections within the larger railroad preservation community.

Train of Terror: The Friends and the museum worked together to produce our first ever Train of Terror for the month of October. Although the event 
succeeded as a fundraiser for the Friends and brought approximately 3,750 people to the museum, a thorough post-event analysis concluded this model 
was too labor intensive and did not fully achieve its goal of bringing a young adult audience to the museum. The museum and Friends have decided to 
rebrand the event in the coming year to better align with our family programming. 

Wedding: The museum hosted a wedding in November for a southern California couple that wanted a railroad theme. The guests and happy couple 
loved their experience.

Santa Trains: Due to limited staffing the museum decided not to advertise or promote its Santa Trains because it would be unable to handle full capacity. 
Santa Trains operated at around 45% capacity serving 3,992 guests over three wekends. This was at the limit of what our sinlge point-of-sale can 
accomodate. Until an online ticket sale is implemented, full potential of this event cannot be achieved. (See Online Ticket Sales below). Our 7.5" gauge 
live steam railroad also operated during these weekends providing additional rides to guests.

Santa Express: The Boulder City Santa Express which runs at night and serves as a fundraiser for the Friends of the Nevada Southern Railway was near 
sold out capacity. The event served 7,235 guests on 27 trains between Thanksgiving and Christmas. 

Holiday Toy Train Show: The museum hosted its annual holiday toy train show the weekend of December 14 and 15. Participants set up toy and model 
railroad layouts of various gauges in the maintenance shop. The event has become a staple of the holiday experience at the museum.

Online Ticket Sales: Directors Thielen and MacMahon with Administrator Freedman are working with US eDirect who was awarded a statewide contract
for online sales with State Parks to develop and implement an online ticket and admission sales program for the railroad museums in Carson City and 
Boulder City. This system is deperately needed in Boulder City as we miss a significant number of visitors and sales because they cannot purchase in 
advance when they are planning trips. Our inability to sale in advance also limits our ability to hold large events because we have a single point-of-sale 
terminal. 

School Field Trips: Now that Clark County School District has reuathorized field trips, the museum is seeing an uptick in school tours. The museum has 
been doing our best to accomodate the increased demand around limited staffing.

Rail Bike Lease: The contract with Rail Explorers, which expired April 30, 2020 and had been continued on a month-to-month basis, was officially 
terminated as of December 31, 2022. All Rail Explorers property has been removed from the museum. An RFP for the new lease was posted by Nevada 
Division of State Lands in early December, and following an open and transparent bid process, Mendocino Raiway was selected as the new rail bike 
operator with a start date TBD based on BOE and IFC contract approvals.

Veteran Employee of the Month: John Walker, the museum's administrative assistant, was chosen as the State of Nevada Veteran Employee of the 
Month for December 2022. Walker is an Army veteran whose selflessness and dedication to the museum and its mission demonstrate the caliber of staff 
Nevada Museums employ.

General Museum Activities Page 13 of 14



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Boulder City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

VI.   Fundraising Activities:  

The museum was offered a donation of Union Pacific caboose 25428 by Mr. Greg Ramsey. This is a CA-7 class caboose built in 1959 and operated 
on UP until 1989. The caboose's interior is in remarkably complete condition and reflects what an operating caboose in the late 20th century 
looked like. Mr. Ramsey is obtaining FRA inspections and waivers to facilitate transport of the caboose by rail. The railroad museums collection 
committee voted to accept this donation, and the museum expects this donation in spring of 2023. Upon arrival a full analysis of the piece will be 
completed and recommendations made for collections management. Tentative plans are to place this caboose back-to-back with our 1882 
caboose allowing guests to compare what changed, and what remained the same over the course of 100 years.

Dr. MacMahon continues to search and apply for applicable grants to help the museum achieve its goals. He will meet with the Governor's Office 
of Federal Assistance in March to discuss possible federal grant opportunities, and seek help applying for federal infrastructure funds to complete 
maintenance on the museum's railroad right-of-way. He is also exploring Nevada Humanities Grants to support special educational programming.

The museum is preparing to launch a capital campaign in FY24 to begin fundraising for preservation and restoration projects. The first project will 
be the Davenport "dinky" that was operated by the Bureau of Reclamation to construct Hoover Dam. This gasoline powered locomotive will be 
the center piece of the new museum building's welcome plaza and all preservation work will need to be finished prior to completion of 
construction and the grand opening. 

Fundraising is severely hampered by the lack of an online donation option. The museum continues to lose possible donations because of this 
limitation and cannot actively promote fundraising because no easy option to donate exists.

Fund Raising Page 14 of 14



NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY NEVADA STATE RAILROAD MUSEUM

Joe Lombardo | Governor 2180 S. Carson Street

Myron Freedman | Administrator Carson City, NV 89701

Dan Thielen | Director

NEVADA STATE RAILROAD MUSEUM-CARSON CITY

REPORT TO THE
BOARD OF MUSEUMS AND HISTORY March 9, 2023



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

State Fiscal Year 2023 
12/31/2022 Column1 Column2 Column3 Column4 GL /Cat#

SFY 2023 
Budget

Actuals 
YTD

Percentage 
YTD

0
Cash From Prev Fiscal Year 2511 504,781 504,781 100.00%
Cash Bal Fwrd New Fiscal Year 2512 0 0 0.00%

Comparison of Revenues Budgeted/ Received:
Facilities Charge 3801 2,980 0 0.00%
Merchandise Sales* 4025 170,000 100,270 58.98%
Gifts & Donations 4251 5,000 527 10.54%
Private Grants 4265 20,000 45,000 225.00%
Friends of the RR 4266 6,053 113,707 1878.52%
Treasurer's Interest 4326 20,000 2,633 13.17%

Total Revenues: $224,033 $262,137 117.01%

Comparison of Expenditures Budgeted/Expended:
Administration 35 81,891 1,099 1.34%
Exhibits 37 50,000 10,698 21.40%
Docent Expenses 43 441 0 0.00%
Museum Store* 45 159,199 61,130 38.40%
Board Appr Special Projects 48 73,935 1,863 2.52%
Special Projects (Restricted) 55 363,348 1,420 0.39%

Total Expenditures: $728,814 $76,209 10.46%

I. Private Funds Budget Summary B/A 5037-01

Budget Summary Page 2 of 13



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Revenue/Expenditure Comparison Narrative:  

Report is through December 31, 2022.
* Further detail available in the  identified sections.

We are pleased with the direction the revenues are tracking.

Budget Summary Page 3 of 13



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

      
Gross store sales revenue  comparison against three previous fiscal years.
Fiscal Year July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL

FY 23 $38,645 $13,984 $9,315 $9,144 $7,491 $21,691 $100,270
FY 22 $15,880 $12,512 $5,858 $7,953 $9,659 $8,710 $3,792 $4,806 $6,771 $8,894 $11,394 $14,772 $111,003
FY 21 $6,335 $5,993 $7,867 $7,250 $3,383 $3,815 $4,036 $4,517 $7,531 $9,850 $9,270 $18,612 $88,460
FY 20 $15,536 $9,024 $11,969 $14,004 $5,624 $12,689 $5,002 $5,737 $2,842 $0 $20 $3,533 $85,977

YTD $38,645 $52,629 $61,944 $71,088 $78,578 $100,270 $100,270 $100,270 $100,270 $100,270 $100,270 $100,270 $100,270

243.35% 185.36% 180.85% 168.44% 151.51% 165.54% 155.78% 144.96% 132.03% 118.19% 104.20% 90.33%

243.35% 111.76% 159.00% 114.97% 77.56% 249.05% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.

Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Store sales chart comparison against previous fiscal years.
Chart will be updated for next scheduled Board of Museums and History meeting.

II. Museum Store Sales

MONTHLY COMPARISON

YTD COMPARISON

Museum Store Page 4 of 13



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Store Profit and Loss Chart

FY2022 Revenues Expenditures Total Net  % Net 

Merchandise Personnel Oper/Other Expenditure Profit (Loss) Profit (Loss)

July 38,645        3,962          3,962          34,683          89.7%
August 13,984        3,982          3,982          10,002          71.5%
September 9,315          9,425               5,595          568             15,588        (6,273)           (67.3%)
October 9,144          10,236             3,982          31               14,249        (5,106)           (55.8%)
November 7,491          5,153               3,982          57               9,192          (1,701)           (22.7%)
December 21,691        9,927               4,066          165             14,158        7,534            34.7%
January -              -              -               0.0%
February -              -              -               0.0%
March -              -              -               0.0%
April -              -              -               0.0%
May -              -              -               0.0%
June -              -              -               0.0%

FY 23 Total 100,270      34,741             25,569        821             61,130        39,140          39.0%

FY 22 Total 111,003      63,066             30,790        3,265          97,121        13,882          12.5%

FY 21 Total 88,461        58,592             53,639        3,824          116,055      (27,594)         (31.2%)
FY 20 Total 85,977        45,208             57,275        5,411          107,894      (21,917)         (25.5%)

Museum Store Page 5 of 13



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Store Sales Narrative:
This quarter the store saw a total of $38,326 in sales, bringing a total of $100,270 in revenue for FY23 as of this report. Revenue growth for this quarter is up 
about 145.5% compared to the 2nd Quarter of FY22. Part of this growth is due to the increase in museum visitation. Another contributing factor for growth in 
revenue is a greater variety of merchandise, allowing the store to appeal to a variety of demographics, from railfans to the everyday family. Currently, the store 
makes a sale from 1 out of every 3 visitors. In order to continue this upward trend of revenue growth it is essential that the store remains involved in museum 
events as well as continues expanding its current product selection. 

The staff met with a design team to discuss the needs of store remodel and we hope to see a proposal soon. State Public Works will assist in the development 
of the project, as they have not yet determined if the museum can perform the work as an agency project.

Report is through December 31, 2022. 

Museum Store Page 6 of 13



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Figures

Memberships (new and renewals) chart comparison against previous fiscal years.

Membership TOTAL

Categories New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew Combined
Individual 63 62 0
Family 178 186 0
Sustaining 127 110 0
Contributing 10 7 0
Patron 3 3 0
Benefactor 0
Senior Couple 322 314 0
Senior 198 201 0
Students 0 0 0
Lifetime 11 14 0
FY 23 0 912 0 897 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
FY 22 23 105 14 98 12 72 9 128 58 493 551
FY 21 11 53 9 55 20 105 26 69 66 282 348
FY 20 9 115 10 98 12 72 9 128 40 413 453
YTD 0 912 0 1,809 0 1,809 0 1,809 0 0 0

0.00% 868.57% 0.00% 891.13% 0.00% 657.82% 0.00% 448.88%

0.00% 868.57% 0.00% 915.31% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

TOTAL

IV.          	Membership Program

Qtr 1
July - Sep

Qtr 2
Oct - Dec

Qtr 3
Jan - Mar

Qtr 4
April - June

YTD COMPARISON

QUARTERLY COMPARISON

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.

Quarterly Comparison compares the current quarter of the current year against the same quarter in the previous year.

Membership Program Page 7 of 13



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Program Narrative

The Nevada State Railroad Museum does not have a membership program. People wishing to support the museum through membership join the Friends of 
the Nevada State Railroad Museum.  This non-profit organization provides cash support for various museum projects and programs. This report has some 
glitches in the data but our membership numbers are improving. Report is through December 31, 2022.

Membership Program Page 8 of 13



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Attendance chart comparison against three previous fiscal years.

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23 11,769 1,744 1665 1,176 1,021 1,017 530 18,922
FY 22 2,273 1,540 941 1,663 1389 490 828 1098 1166 3590 2019 1872 18,869
FY 21 1,087 1,100 1,185 1,024 192 402 604 774 1,096 1,360 2,072 2,076 12,972
FY 20 2,131 1,924 2,031 1,506 960 1,238 816 1,188 299 0 0 0 12,093
YTD 11,769 13,513 15,178 16,354 17,375 18,392 18,922 0 0 0 0 0 18,922

517.77% 354.39% 319.27% 254.85% 222.59% 221.70% 207.39% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

517.77% 113.25% 176.94% 70.72% 73.51% 207.55% 64.01% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Attendance Receipts
July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL

FY 23 $11,000 $10,595 $11,922 $16,736 $9,491 $7,914 $3,048 $264 $70,970
FY 22 $14,550 $10,367 $6,833 $9,480 $7,329 $8,435 $1,432 $5,346 $7,100 $10,912 $9,628 $15,677 $107,089
FY 21 $8,026 $7,394 $8,929 $7,774 $1,196 $2,248 $2,986 $3,465 $6,193 $8,005 $10,112 $15,187 $81,515
FY 20 $16,201 $14,695 $15,076 $13,446 $4,663 $4,727 $5,401 $5,574 $2,584 $0 $0 $4,062 $86,428
YTD $11,000 $10,595 $11,922 $16,736 $9,491 $7,914 $3,048 $264 $0 $0 $0 $0 $70,970

75.60% 42.52% 37.55% 40.59% 19.55% 13.89% 5.22% 0.41% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

75.60% 102.20% 174.49% 176.54% 129.50% 93.82% 212.85% 4.94% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

V.           	Museum Attendance

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

Attendance Page 9 of 13



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Attendance Narrative:  

The museum has enjoyed strong numbers this quarter. In particular, please note October's record breaking visitation. The Harvest Train was 
sold out and we directly attribute this to the tremendous response to the GWSU. However, the numbers reflected in admissions are a bit 
misleading as these were wristband sales. It may appear that our train ride revenues are a bit down in October, but are not. The Museum will 
be developing more programming that will bring more visitors into the museum.

Attendance Page 10 of 13



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Train Ride Receipts.

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23 $0 $1,098 $2,530 $8,041 $3,279 $8,152 $0 $0 $23,100
FY 22 $8,230 $519 $834 $9,286 $5,997 $16,080 $0 $0 $0 $4,608 $2,686 $1,730 $49,970
FY 21 $3,194 $806 $3,640 $4,112 $1,697 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,846 $2,308 $7,188 $24,791
FY 20 $15,620 $4,588 $6,288 $9,956 $0 $11,670 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $48,122
YTD $0 $1,098 $3,628 $11,669 $14,948 $23,100 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $23,100

0.0% 12.6% 37.9% 61.8% 60.1% 56.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

0.0% 211.6% 303.3% 86.6% 54.7% 50.7% #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Train Ride Receipts Narrative:

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

Harvest Train was a tremendous boost to the quarter. Santa Train suffered from the two snow storms that seriously hampered visitation. As the 
museum does not have professional snow removal equipment, most of the parking lots and walkways were not clear until the storms stopped mid-
day. In spite of the hardship, the snow was a beautiful addition and enhanced the magic surrounding Santa's visit. Those who braved the weather 
experienced a once in a lifetime event. It was exceptional. Report is through December 31, 2022

Attendance Page 11 of 13



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

VII    General Museum Activities

The museum had a good turnout for its Harvest Train celebration, October 15 and 16.  The weather cooperated with sunny skies and warm temperatures. 
Over 1,400 visitors stopped by for a train ride and a visit to the museum.  In fact, the museum ran out of parking during some of the busiest portions of the 
weekend with visitors having to find parking offsite.  Trains were busy and pumpkin sales were brisk.  

Museum staff and volunteers participated at the Carson City BOOnanza for the second year in a row.  This annual event takes place the Thursday before 
Halloween at Mills Park from 4:00pm to 7:00pm.  Over 70 businesses, government agencies, and non-profits hand out candy and goodies to kids while 
promoting their businesses/services.  Over 2,000 people are estimated to visit BOOnanza each year.  Since participating in this event in 2021, NSRM has 
noticed an uptick in visitors during the Nevada Day weekend festivities.  Thanks to our staff and volunteers for representing the museum at BOOnanza.

Two new part-time museum attendants were hired at the museum in November: Ryan Korson and Noah Hanson.  Ryan Korson was a volunteer at NSRM 
before being added as a part-time museum attendant.  He is a student at Western Nevada College and has a great appreciation for the history of the Virginia 
& Truckee Railroad.  Noah Hanson is an adjunct instructor at Western Nevada College in the History Department and will help us mostly on the weekends.  
Ryan and Noah help us with special events, cover the admission desk, and various duties as assigned.  We are excited to have Ryan and Noah working at 
NSRM.

Santa Train was a success again this year.  Attendance was slightly down compared to previous years.  Much of that is due to poor weather, including rain 
and eventually a blizzard that kept visitors away.  During the winter, museum staff and the Friends of NSRM are working together to improve event planning 
and coordination to have an even more successful Santa Train in 2023.

Visit Carson City filmed a commercial at the museum to promote the first annual Mark Twain Days celebration, which is April 21-23, 2023.

Mike Shaughnessy, a wonderful volunteer at the Museum, spent his 87th birthday in the cab of the steamed-up locomotive #25. This was a dream for him as 
he did the same thing 80 years ago (80!) when locomotive #25 was in operation in the final days of the Virginia and Truckee Railroad.

The CIPs for re-roofing and HVAC upgrades have been delayed due to budget constraints and materials procurement. Work is projected to start in April 2023 
and will become complete AFTER a 52 week delay for parts sometime in late 2024.

The heavy rains and snow have caused additional flooding in the interpretive center and we experienced about 3 weeks of standing water in the museum 
that never left until after the new year. State Public Works inspected the site and had some ideas. We really need some design and construction work to 
prevent a repeat of 2017's flood.

Report is through December 31, 2022.

General Museum Activities Page 12 of 13



Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

VI.   Fundraising Activities:  

The Museum received a $5,000 donation from the Winston Jefferys Jones trust.

The Museum, through the Friends, recieved a $15,000 donation to assist with the movement of locomotives from the California State Railroad 
Museum. 

Fund Raising Page 13 of 13



 

Happy 87th Birthday to Mike Shaughnessy! 

 

Harvest Train Pumpkin Patch. John Gaffney image. 



 

#25 pulling a load of brave Nevadans. Rick Bieniek image 

 

Harvest Train with a very crowded depot. John Gaffney image. 



 

Santa confers with his elves near the water tower. John Gaffney image. 

 

Over the river and through the woods. Rick Bieniek image. 



 

Delighted children at the depot. John Gaffney image. 

 

Another satisfied customer! John Gaffney image. 



 

#25 pushing snow while preparations are made for the public. 

 

 



Funding Source 

Form Provided by the Attorney General of the State of Nevada Effective 02/2017 – Reformatted 01/2020 Page 1 of 7 

CONTRACT FOR SERVICES OF INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
FOR LESS THAN $50,000 

A Contract Between the State of Nevada 
Acting by and Through its 

Agency Name: Division of Museums and History 

Address: 412 East Musser Street 
City, State, Zip Code: Carson City, NV 89701 
Contact: Daphne O. DeLeon, Administrative Services Officer 
Phone: 775-687-7340 ext. 302
Fax: 775-687-4333
Email: dadeleon@nevadaculture.org 

Contractor Name: 4Concrete LLC 

Address: 3445 Pershing Lane 
City, State, Zip Code: Washoe Valley, NV 89704-9286 
Contact: Ben Coyazo 
Phone: 775-683-1519
Fax: 
Email: efraincoyazo@yahoo.com 

WHEREAS, NRS 333.700 authorizes officers, departments, institutions, boards, commissions, and other agencies in the 
Executive Branch of the State Government which derive their support from public money in whole or in part to engage services 
of persons as independent contractors; and 

WHEREAS, it is deemed that the service of Contractor is both necessary and in the best interests of the State of Nevada. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the aforesaid premises, the parties mutually agree as follows: 

1. CONTRACT TERM.  This Contract shall be effective as noted below, unless sooner terminated by either party as
specified in Section 7, Contract Termination.  Contracts requiring approval of the Nevada Board of Museums and History
are not effective until such approval has occurred, however, after such approval, the effective date will be the date noted
below.

Effective from: Upon Approval To: June 30, 2023 

2. NOTICE.  All communications, including notices, required or permitted to be given under this Contract shall be in writing
and directed to the parties at the addresses stated above.  Notices may be given: (a) by delivery in person; (b) by a nationally 
recognized next day courier service, return receipt requested; or (c) by certified mail, return receipt requested.  If
specifically requested by the party to be notified, valid notice may be given by facsimile transmission or email to the
address(es) such party has specified in writing.

5037-35



Funding Source 

Form Provided by the Attorney General of the State of Nevada Effective 02/2017 – Reformatted 01/2020 Page 2 of 7 

3. SCOPE OF WORK.  The Scope of Work is described below, which is incorporated herein by reference:

DESCRIPTION OF SCOPE OF WORK: 

NEVADA STATE RAILROAD MUSEUM 

2180 SOUTH CARSON STREET, CARSON CITY, NV 89701 
Scope of Work 
Summary 
Date: February 
7, 2023 

Project: concrete flooring in Jacobsen Interpretive Center 

Contract Number: TBT 

General Intention: This Scope of Work is intended to include all work required to complete the project 
described below. Contractors who submit bids are required to include and disclose in their bid all work 
deemed necessary to complete the project. 

Task/s 

1) Remove steps and concrete walkways at front of museum so the tracks can be leveled and
electrical can be repaired.

2) Install concrete through both tracks the length of museum.
3) ADD/ALT pending cost: Polish and dye all

concrete to match Introduction: 

This project will provide a level surface through out the museum. This is chiefly a flat work project with 
one 

set of stairs. This project will eliminate some safety concerns and increase the usable space. 

Scope of Work: 

This project will 

• Demolish two walkways
• Demolish one stairway
• Saw-areas for data cables and power cables
• Level and tamp track
• Install concrete
• ADD/ALT: grind and dye throughout the

interpretive center Work can take place Monday through 
Friday, 6 a.m.-5 p.m. 

Schedule: Work must be completed by June 1, 2021 

Conditions: Must carry liability insurance. Must work in and around the public. OSHA rules apply 

5037-35



Funding Source 

Form Provided by the Attorney General of the State of Nevada Effective 02/2017 – Reformatted 01/2020 Page 3 of 7 

Location: 2180 South Carson Street, Carson City, NV 89701 

Reason why this work cannot be accomplished by agency: Lack of skills, time or tools. 

Point of Contact: Daniel Thielen, 775-687-6953 ext 223 

End of Summary 

Instructions to bidders: The following documents are required prior to contract approval: State of Nevada business license. 
Vendor must provide proof of\iability and worker's compensation insurance. The certificates must name the Nevada State 
Railroad Museum, its officers, employees and immune contractors as defined in NRS 41.0307 as the certificate holder. Vendor 
must be a registered vendor with State of Nevada. Vendor must use electronic transfer for payment. 

An Attachment must be limited to the Scope of Work to be performed by Contractor.  Any provision, term or condition of an 
Attachment that contradicts the terms of this Contract, or that would change the obligations of the State under this Contract, shall 
be void and unenforceable. 

4. INCORPORATED DOCUMENTS.  The parties agree that this Contract, inclusive of the following attachment..  This
Contract incorporates the following attachment.

ATTACHMENT AA: CONTRACTOR’S PROPOSAL 

5. CONSIDERATION.  The parties agree that Contractor will provide the services specified in Section 3, Scope of Work
at a cost as noted below:

per 

Total Contract or installments payable at:  Completion of project and receipt of invoice 

Total Contract Not to Exceed: $44.000 

The State does not agree to reimburse Contractor for expenses unless otherwise specified in the Scope of Work or 
incorporated Attachments (if any).  Any intervening end to a biennial appropriation period shall be deemed an automatic 
renewal (not changing the overall Contract term) or a termination as the result of legislative appropriation may require. 

6. BILLING SUBMISSION:  TIMELINESS.  The parties agree that timeliness of billing is of the essence to the Contract
and recognize that the State is on a Fiscal Year.  All billings for dates of service prior to July 1 must be submitted to the
State no later than the first Friday in August of the same calendar year.  A billing submitted after the first Friday in August,
which forces the State to process the billing as a stale claim pursuant to NRS 353.097, will subject Contractor to an
administrative fee not to exceed one hundred dollars ($100.00).  The parties hereby agree this is a reasonable estimate of
the additional costs to the State of processing the billing as a stale claim and that this amount will be deducted from the
stale claim payment due to Contractor.

7. INSPECTION & AUDIT. Contractor agrees to keep and maintain under generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) and as required by State and federal law, complete and accurate records as are necessary to fully disclose to the
State or United States Government, sufficient information to determine compliance with all State and federal regulations
and statutes, and compliance with the terms of this contract, and agrees that such documents will be made available for
inspection upon reasonable notice from authorized representatives of the State or Federal Government.

8. CONTRACT TERMINATION.

A. Termination Without Cause.  Regardless of any terms to the contrary, this Contract may be terminated upon written
notice by mutual consent of both parties.  The State unilaterally may terminate this contract without cause by giving

5037-35



Funding Source 

Form Provided by the Attorney General of the State of Nevada Effective 02/2017 – Reformatted 01/2020 Page 4 of 7 

not less than thirty (30) days’ notice in the manner specified in Section 2, Notice.  If this Contract is unilaterally 
terminated by the State, Contractor shall use its best efforts to minimize cost to the State and Contractor will not be 
paid for any cost that Contractor could have avoided. 

B. State Termination for Non-Appropriation.  The continuation of this Contract beyond the current biennium is subject
to and contingent upon sufficient funds being appropriated, budgeted, and otherwise made available by the State
Legislature and/or federal sources.  The State may terminate this Contract, and Contractor waives any and all claims(s) 
for damages, effective immediately upon receipt of written notice (or any date specified therein) if for any reason the
Contracting Agency’s funding from State and/or federal sources is not appropriated or is withdrawn, limited, or
impaired.

C. Termination with Cause for Breach.  A breach may be declared with or without termination.  A notice of breach and
termination shall specify the date of termination of the Contract, which shall not be sooner than the expiration of the
Time to Correct, if applicable, allowed under Subsection 7D.  This Contract may be terminated by either party upon
written notice of breach to the other party on the following grounds:

1) If Contractor fails to provide or satisfactorily perform any of the conditions, work, deliverables, goods, or services 
called for by this Contract within the time requirements specified in this Contract or within any granted extension
of those time requirements; or

2) If any state, county, city, or federal license, authorization, waiver, permit, qualification or certification required
by statute, ordinance, law, or regulation to be held by Contractor to provide the goods or services required by this
Contract is for any reason denied, revoked, debarred, excluded, terminated, suspended, lapsed, or not renewed;
or

3) If Contractor becomes insolvent, subject to receivership, or becomes voluntarily or involuntarily subject to the
jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court; or

4) If the State materially breaches any material duty under this Contract and any such breach impairs Contractor’s
ability to perform; or

5) If it is found by the State that any quid pro quo or gratuities in the form of money, services, entertainment, gifts,
or otherwise were offered or given by Contractor, or any agent or representative of Contractor, to any officer or
employee of the State of Nevada with a view toward securing a contract or securing favorable treatment with
respect to awarding, extending, amending, or making any determination with respect to the performing of such
contract; or

6) If it is found by the State that Contractor has failed to disclose any material conflict of interest relative to the
performance of this Contract.

D. Time to Correct.  Unless the breach is not curable, or unless circumstances do not permit an opportunity to cure,
termination upon declared breach may be exercised only after service of formal written notice as specified in Section
2, Notice, and the subsequent failure of the breaching party within fifteen (15) calendar days of receipt of that notice
to provide evidence, satisfactory to the aggrieved party, showing that the declared breach has been corrected.  Upon
a notice of breach, the time to correct and the time for termination of the contract upon breach under Subsection 7C,
above, shall run concurrently, unless the notice expressly states otherwise.

9. REMEDIES.  Except as otherwise provided for by law or this Contract, the rights and remedies of the parties shall not
be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law or equity, including, without limitation,
actual damages, and to a prevailing party reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.  For purposes of an award of attorneys’
fees to either party, the parties stipulate and agree that a reasonable hourly rate of attorneys’ fees shall be one hundred and
fifty dollars ($150.00) per hour.  The State may set off consideration against any unpaid obligation of Contractor to any
State agency in accordance with NRS 353C.190.  In the event that Contractor voluntarily or involuntarily becomes subject
to the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court, the State may set off consideration against any unpaid obligation of Contractor
to the State or its agencies, to the extent allowed by bankruptcy law, without regard to whether the procedures of NRS
353C.190 have been utilized.

10. LIMITED LIABILITY.  The State will not waive and intends to assert available NRS Chapter 41 liability limitations in
all cases.  Contract liability of both parties shall not be subject to punitive damages.  Damages for any State breach shall
never exceed the amount of funds appropriated for payment under this Contract, but not yet paid to Contractor, for the

5037-35



Funding Source 

Form Provided by the Attorney General of the State of Nevada Effective 02/2017 – Reformatted 01/2020 Page 5 of 7 

Fiscal Year budget in existence at the time of the breach.  Contractor’s tort liability shall not be limited. 

11. INDEMNIFICATION AND DEFENSE.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall indemnify, hold
harmless and defend, not excluding the State’s right to participate, the State from and against all liability, claims, actions,
damages, losses, and expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, arising out of any
breach of the obligations of Contractor under this Contract, or any alleged negligent or willful acts or omissions of
Contractor, its officers, employees and agents.  Contractor’s obligation to indemnify the State shall apply in all cases
except for claims arising solely from the State’s own negligence or willful misconduct.  Contractor waives any rights of
subrogation against the State.  Contractor’s duty to defend begins when the State requests defense of any claim arising
from this Contract.

12. REPRESENTATIONS REGARDING INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS.  Contractor represents that it is
an independent contractor, as defined in NRS 333.700(2) and 616A.255, warrants that it will perform all work under this
contract as an independent contractor, and warrants that the State of Nevada will not incur any employment liability by
reason of this Contract or the work to be performed under this Contract.  To the extent the State incurs any employment
liability for the work under this Contract; Contractor will reimburse the State for that liability.

13. INSURANCE SCHEDULE.  Unless expressly waived in writing by the Contracting Agency, Contractor must procure,
maintain and keep in force for the duration of the Contract insurance conforming to the minimum requirements specified
below.  Each insurance policy shall provide for a waiver of subrogation against the State of Nevada, its officers, employees
and immune contractors as defined in NRS 41.0307, for losses arising from work/materials/equipment performed or
provided by or on behalf of Contractor.  By endorsement to Contractor’s automobile and general liability policies, the
State of Nevada shall be named as an additional insured with respect to liability arising out of the activities performed by,
or on behalf of Contractor.  Contractor shall not commence work before Contractor has provided evidence of the required
insurance in the form of a certificate of insurance and endorsement to the Contracting Agency of the State.

A. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance.

1) Contractor shall provide proof of worker’s compensation insurance as required per Nevada Revised Statutes
Chapters 616A through 616D inclusive.

2) If Contractor qualifies as a sole proprietor as defined in NRS Chapter 616A.310 and has elected to not purchase
industrial insurance for himself/herself, the sole proprietor must submit to the contracting State agency a fully
executed “Affidavit of Rejection of Coverage” form under NRS 616B.627 and NRS 617.210.

B. Commercial General Liability – Occurrence Form.  The Policy shall include bodily injury, property damage and broad 
form contractual liability coverage.  

1) General Aggregate $2,000,000 
2) Products – Completed Operations Aggregate $1,000,000 
3) Personal and Advertising Injury $1,000,000 
4) Each Occurrence $1,000,000 

Mail all required insurance documents to the Contracting Agency identified on page one of the Contract. 

14. WAIVER OF BREACH.  Failure to declare a breach or the actual waiver of any particular breach of the Contract or its
material or nonmaterial terms by either party shall not operate as a waiver by such party of any of its rights or remedies as
to any other breach.

15. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision contained in this Contract is held to be unenforceable by a court of law or equity,
this Contract shall be construed as if such provision did not exist and the non-enforceability of such provision shall not be
held to render any other provision or provisions of this Contract unenforceable.

16. STATE OWNERSHIP OF PROPRIETARY INFORMATION.  Any data or information provided by the State to
Contractor and any documents or materials provided by the State to Contractor in the course of this Contract (“State
Materials”) shall be and remain the exclusive property of the State and all such State Materials shall be delivered into State
possession by Contractor upon completion, termination, or cancellation of this Contract.

5037-35



Funding Source 

Form Provided by the Attorney General of the State of Nevada Effective 02/2017 – Reformatted 01/2020 Page 6 of 7 

17. PUBLIC RECORDS.  Pursuant to NRS 239.010, information or documents received from Contractor may be open to
public inspection and copying.  The State may have the duty to disclose unless a particular record is made confidential by
law or a common law balance of interests.

18. GENERAL WARRANTY.  Contractor warrants that all services, deliverables, and/or work products under this Contract
shall be completed in a workmanlike manner consistent with standards in the trade, profession, or industry; shall conform
to or exceed the specifications set forth in the incorporated attachments; and shall be fit for ordinary use, of good quality,
with no material defects.

19. DISCLOSURES REGARDING CURRENT OR FORMER STATE EMPLOYEES.  For the purpose of State
compliance with NRS 333.705, Contractor represents and warrants that if Contractor, or any employee of Contractor who
will be performing services under this Contract, is a current employee of the State or was employed by the State within
the preceding 24 months, Contractor has disclosed the identity of such persons, and the services that each such person will
perform, to the Contracting Agency.

20. GOVERNING LAW:  JURISDICTION.  This Contract and the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be
governed by, and construed according to, the laws of the State of Nevada, without giving effect to any principle of conflict-
of-law that would require the application of the law of any other jurisdiction.  The parties consent to the exclusive
jurisdiction of and venue in the First Judicial District Court, Carson City, Nevada for enforcement of this Contract, and
consent to personal jurisdiction in such court for any action or proceeding arising out of this Contract.

21. ENTIRE CONTRACT AND MODIFICATION.  This Contract and its Scope of Work constitute the entire agreement
of the parties and as such are intended to be the complete and exclusive statement of the promises, representations,
negotiations, discussions, and other agreements that may have been made in connection with the subject matter hereof.
Unless otherwise expressly authorized by the terms of this Contract, no modification or amendment to this Contract shall
be binding upon the parties unless the same is in writing and signed by the respective parties hereto and approved by the
Office of the Attorney General and the State Board of Examiners, as required.  This form of Contract, including any
amendments to the Contract, is not authorized for use if the “not to exceed” value Section 4, Consideration equals or
exceeds $50,000.  This Contract, and any amendments, may be executed in counterparts.

5037-35



5037-35



ATTACHMENT AA 
PROPOSAL 

4 CONCRETE LLC 
NV LIC: 00833811 CLASS: C-5 
4concrete775@gmail.com I Office: (775) 260-2448 

DATE: 2/13/2023 
EXPIRATION DATE: 3/13/2023 

CUSTOMER CONTRACTOR 
Name: Dan Thielen (NN Railroad Museum) Company: 4 Concrete LLC 
Street Address:      2180 S. Carson St. Street  Address:  3445 Pershing Lane 
City/State/ZIP: Carson City, NV 89701 City/State/ZIP: Washoe Valley, NV 89704 
Phone: 775-450-3608 Project Manager: Ben Coyazo 
Email:  Dthielen@nevadaculture.org Cell Phone: 775-762-1940
Project Name:      Concrete Flooring Email:  bencoyazo@gmail.com 

Total I S 44,000

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

SCOPE  OF WORK 

ADDITIONAL NOTES 
Approximate square feet for this project = 2700 

A 4000psi mix will be used on this project. 

mailto:4concrete775@gmail.com
mailto:Dthielen@nevadaculture.org
mailto:bencoyazo@gmail.com


EXCLUSIONS 

Traffic control, barricades, and temporary protection of work for others. Water proofing, i nsulati on,  water stop, and 
xipex. Shop drawings and embed drawings furnished by others. Testing and permit fees, site retaining walls, 
concrete washout bi ns, and trash haul off cost(s). 

WINTER CONDITIONS 

During the winter season, blankets may be required during cold weather pouring. Concrete blankets are used to 
prevent freezing during the curing process. I f blankets and/or other winter precautions are required and are not 
included in this estimate, a change order wil l be provided to ensure proper care of your concrete structure. Blankets 
are typically $1.00 per square foot (estimate). 

COMPANY PROPOSAL 

All work to be completed in a professional manner according to all current standards, policies, and regulations. 

LIMITED WORKMANSHIP WARRANTY 

4 Concrete LLC warrants your concrete surface against any surface peeling or scaling that result from inferior 
materials or workmanship for a period of one year subject to  the  warranty  limitations  and warranty conditions set 
out herein. The Limited Workmanship Warranty expires one year from the date of completion of the project. 

The Limited Workmanship Warranty excludes cracking, peeling or scaling, curling or shrinkage, discoloration, and 
any variations of color in the finished surface. Concrete cracking is a normal occurrence; however, we will do 
everything we can to control cracking, but there is no guarantee that concrete will not crack. Extenders and 
additives that are incorporated into ready mixed concrete can cause some areas of the fin shed surface to be a 
darker shade than other areas. 4 Concrete LLC is not liable for repair conditions caused by misuse or abuse, raising 
or settling caused by sub-surface ground conditions, ground settlement, damage caused by impact or exposure or 
contact with any foreign substance or any other mistreatment of the surface, winter conditions, accidents, acts 
of God, damage from wear and tear, deicers, chemicals, equipment, vehicles, and other instances that are out 
of 4 Concrete LLC's control and are not covered by our warranty. The liability of the work outlined under this 
warranty will be limited to the repair or replacement of the defective area only and at the sole discretion of 4 
Concrete LLC. This warranty does not apply to, and is waived by the homeowner as to, any construction work that 
has been subjected to an accident nor does it apply to any construction work that has been modified, altered, 
defaced and/or had repairs made/attempted by the homeowner or others. 

Client Care: we recommend properly caring for the concrete surface to extend its longevity with the following 
instructions: do not drive or park vehicles or equipment on new concrete for at least seven days unless otherwise 
noted by 4 Concrete LLC. Do not allow water to drain beneath the concrete slab. Re-seal concrete every two to 
three years to prevent surface deterioration and never expose the concrete to salt and/ or other deicer chemicals. 

PAYMENT TERMS 

Client agrees to pay 50% of the proposal amount at the time of project start date and 100% when the job is 
completed. Acceptable forms of payment include check, cash, and all major credit cards (Visa, Mastercard, Discover 
and American Express) . All card transactions are subject to a 3. 5% processing fee. 

A finance charge of 2% per month for an annual percentage rate of 24% will be charged on all past due accounts. 

If it shall become necessary for the contractor,  4 Concrete LLC,  to  seek the  services of an attorney to enforce the 
owner/client's obligations under this agreement, 4 Concrete LLC shall be entitled to recover its actual attorney's fees 
and all expenses incurred , which shall be paid by the owner/ client to 4 Concrete LLC on demand. It is the intention 
of the Parties hereto that this agreement and the performance hereunder and all  suits and special proceedings 
hereunder be governed by and construed in accordance with and pursuant to the laws of the State of Nevada, and 
all actions shall be filed in a court of competent jurisdiction . 



A rcc 

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURES 

This is a quotation on the services named, subject to the conditions noted below: 
The contents of this proposal discard any plans or verbal discussions unless amended in writing. 
No cancellation, waiver, alteration, or modification of this agreement by the owner/client shall be 
valid unless in writing. This agreement may be terminated without notice by 4 Concrete LLC at 
any time. Client agrees to pay 4 Concrete LLC the reasonable value of the work completed if the 
agreement is rescinded. Bid is valid for 30 days. Rates are subject to change (outside of 30 days) 
based on the current economic climate including, but not limited to fuel, materials, concrete, labor, 
etc. 

You are hereby authorizing 4 Concrete LLC to begin work and agreeing to the outlined scope of 
work and estimate(s ) provided. The owner/client agrees to pay 4 Concrete LLC for furnis hing the 
material s and performing the work as specified herein and may be subject to additions for any 
changes. Any increase in the estimated price resulting from such changes shall be agreed upon 
by both parties. 

PRINT NAME /Owner! Client! Authorized Representative) 

OWNER/CLIENT  SIGNATURE (Owner/Client! Authorized Representative) DATE 

4 CONCRETE LLC/ EFRAIN COYAZO DATE 

THANK YOU FOR YOUR BUSINESS! 



 

NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY 
Joe Lombardo | Governor 

Myron Freedman | Acting Administrator 

NEVADA STATE RAILROAD 
MUSEUM, CARSON CITY 

Dan Thielen | Director 
2180 South Carson Street 

Carson City, NV 89701 

 

A DIVISION OF THE NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM AND CULTURAL AFFAIRS  
CARSONRAILROADMUSEUM.ORG 

Date:       February 24, 2023 
 
To:  Robert Stoldal, Chair, Board of Museums and History 
 
Through: Myron Freedman, Administrator, Division of Museums and History 
 
From:  Dan Thielen, Museum Director, Nevada State Railroad Museum, CC  
 
Re:  B/A 5037 Budget Amendment to support equipment purchase 
 
The Nevada State Railroad Museum requests authority to use funding from BA 5037 
CAT 55-01 for the purchase of a replacement forklift. Revenues from admissions and 
train rides are exceeding our budgeted amount and we have a tremendous opportunity 
to take advantage of these funds to replace an aging piece of critical equipment. The 
museums programs are dependent on this tool. It is our goal to find a late model 
SkyTrak style forklift to replace this 40 year old fork lift. Parts are no longer available.  
 
We sought one-shot funding through the State but were denied. 
 
The museum will use a combination of funds to replace this machine. 
 General Funds:   $34,000 
 License Plate funds:  $15,000 
 Friends of NSRM  $10,000 
 CAT 55-01 Trust funds: $60,000 
     $115,000 
 
  Total Request $60,000 
 
 
NSRM currently has $363,348.00 in B/A 5037 CAT 55-01 (Restricted Projects CC) on 
hand to complete this project. 
 
Please sign below to signify your approval. 
 
 
Approved:   _____________________ ___________ _____________ 
  Chair, Board of Museums and History  Date 
 









NEVADA MUSEUMS & HISTORY NEVADA HISTORICAL SOCIETY

Joe Lombardo | Governor 1650 North Virginia Street

Myron Freedman | Administrator Reno, NV 89503

Catherine Magee | Director

NEVADA HISTORICAL SOCIETY

REPORT TO THE
BOARD OF MUSEUMS AND HISTORY March 9, 2023



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

State Fiscal Year 2023  
12/31/2022 Column1 Column2 Column3 Column4 GL /Cat#

SFY 2023 
Budget

Actuals 
YTD

Percentage 
YTD

Cash From Prev Fiscal Year 2511 2,027,105 2,027,105 100.00%
Cash Bal Fwrd New Fiscal Year 2512 0 0 0.00%

Comparison of Revenues Budgeted/ Received:
Memberships* 4008 27,686 10,380 37.49%
Photograph Sales 4010 2,590 460 17.76%
Printing Sales 4011 1,137 157 13.79%
Merchandise Sales* 4025 3,013 4,645 154.16%
Gifts & Donations 4251 3,258 350 10.74%
Private Grants 4265 6,419 2,992 46.60%
Treasurer's Interest 4326 20,121 5,743 28.54%
Trans Museum Ded Trust 4665 0 0 0.00%

Total Revenues: $64,224 $24,726 38.50%

Comparison of Expenditures Budgeted/Expended:
Administration 35 37,407 1,854 4.96%
Nevada Historical Quarterly 37 38,968 13,997 35.92%
Museum Store* 41 8,717 472 5.41%
Board Appr Special Projects 48 270,676 0 0.00%
Photo 49 2,800 0 0.00%
Special Projects (Restricted) 55 1,720,016 19,766 1.15%

Total Expenditures: $2,078,584 $36,089 1.74%

Available Unrestricted Cash 2,015,743

I. Private Funds Budget Summary B/A 5035

Budget Summary Page 2 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Revenue/Expenditure Comparison Narrative:  

Report is through December 31, 2022.
* Further detail available in the  identified sections.

The above figures reflect fiscal year 2023 revenues and expenditures as of December 31, 2022.
* Further detail available in the below identified sections.

Budget Summary Page 3 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

      
Gross store sales revenue  comparison against three previous fiscal years.
Fiscal Year July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL

FY 2023          457             1,061          492        1,166            242           1,227          4,645 
FY 2022       2,279                378          532           876            478           1,732              357          153     1,869          273        292       3,017 12,237
FY 2021            93                     -               -           927            513              685              131            12        198            20        378            57 3,013
FY 2020       1,335                946       1,070           701            847           1,775           1,019       1,598        451            75          70             (4) 9,884

YTD 457 1,518 2,010 3,176 3,418 4,645 4,645 4,645 4,645 4,645 4,645 4,645 4,645

20.05% 57.12% 63.04% 78.13% 75.24% 74.02% 70.03% 68.45% 53.67% 52.03% 50.38% 37.96%

20.05% 280.38% 92.65% 133.05% 50.64% 70.81% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.

Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Store sales chart comparison against previous fiscal years.
Chart will be updated for next scheduled Board of Museums and History meeting.

II. Museum Store Sales

MONTHLY COMPARISON

YTD COMPARISON

Museum Store Page 4 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Store Profit and Loss Chart

FY2023 Revenues Expenditures Total Net  % Net 

Merchandise Personnel Oper/Other Expenditure Profit (Loss) Profit (Loss)

July 457           -                  -           -            -             457              100.0%
August 1,061        -                  -           -            -             1,061           100.0%
September 492           227                 -           -            227             265              53.9%
October 1,166        -                  -           -            -             1,166           100.0%
November 242           170                 -           -            170             72                29.7%
December 1,227        75                   -           -            75               1,152           93.9%
January -             -               0.0%
February -             -               0.0%
March -             -               0.0%
April -             -               0.0%
May -             -               0.0%
June -             -               0.0%

FY23 Total 4,645        472                 -           -            472             4,173           89.8%

FY22 Total 12,237      1,635              -           -            2,910          9,326           76.2%

FY21 Total 3,013        4,120              -           1,080         5,200          (2,187)           (72.6%)
FY20 Total 9,884        4,661              2,201         6,863          3,021           30.6%

Museum Store Page 5 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Store Sales Narrative:
Sales in the museum store reflect limited onsite foot traffic as the NHS has reduced hours due to the reduced staffing as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic.  
Tiffany Jones filled the position of Administrative Assistant and the NHS Store Manager this quarter.  Tiffany Jones is assessing the inventory needs and 
is purchasing new merchandise. Report reflects activity through December 31, 2022.

Museum Store Page 6 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Figures

Memberships (new and renewals) chart comparison against previous fiscal years.

Membership TOTAL

Categories New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew New Renew
Combined

Individual 10 29 9 47 19 76 95
Family 6 17 3 22 9 39 48
Sustaining 1 21 1 13 2 34 36
Contributing 0 0 0 1 0 1 1
Patron 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Benefactor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Senior 2 14 3 13 5 27 32
Student 0 0 2 0 2 0 2
FY 23 19 81 18 96 0 0 0 0 37 177 214
FY 22 2 60 11 66 12 99 0 144 25 363 388
FY 21 6 82 4 90 11 99 0 42 21 313 334
FY 20 43 75 15 67 18 188 0 0 76 330 406
YTD 19 81 37 177 37 177 37 177 37 177 214

950.00% 135.00% 284.62% 140.48% 148.00% 78.67% 148.00% 47.97%

950.00% 135.00% 163.64% 145.45% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

IV.          	Membership Program

YTD COMPARISON

QUARTERLY COMPARISON

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.

Quarterly Comparison compares the current quarter of the current year against the same quarter in the previous year.

TOTALQtr 1
July - Sep

Qtr 2
Oct - Dec

Qtr 3
Jan - Mar

Qtr 4
April - June

Membership Program Page 7 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Sales

Membership sales  comparison against three previous fiscal years.       

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23 $0 $2,375 $2,725 $995 $1,855 $2,430 $10,380
FY 22 $1,365 $315 $2,300 $300 $1,760 $3,595 $2,300 $2,510 $3,590 $505 $620 $1,685 $20,845
FY 21 $60 $3,819 $4,451 $3,179 $480 $5,012 $1,740 $2,520 $2,605 $2,170 $325 $1,325 $27,686
FY 20 $735 $3,200 $1,670 $2,135 $1,610 $1,190 $2,435 $5,650 $260 $0 $580 $420 $19,885

YTD $0 $2,375 $5,100 $6,095 $7,950 $10,380 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $10,380

#DIV/0! 141.37% 128.14% 142.41% 131.62% 107.73% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

0.00% 753.97% 118.48% 331.67% 105.40% 67.59% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

Membership Program Page 8 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Membership Program Narrative

The NHS also has institutional memberships with 7 renewals this quarter.  The NHS docents provide membership functions: send out and process renewals and 
update our membership database.  They are working in conjunction with Tiffany Jones who also oversees membership. This reflects memberships through 
December 31, 2022.

Membership Program Page 9 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Attendance chart comparison against three previous fiscal years.

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL
FY 23 254 60 169 239 144 222 1088
FY 22 84 54 50 114 87 239 80 295 137 170 317 136 1,763
FY 21 20 36 36 63 36 2 32 56 70 87 0 0 438
FY 20 578 227 243 388 349 243 334 347 215 0 0 0 2,924
YTD 254 314 483 722 866 1,088 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,088

302.38% 227.54% 256.91% 239.07% 222.62% 173.25% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

302.38% 111.11% 338.00% 209.65% 165.52% 92.89% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

Attendance Receipts
July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June TOTAL

FY 23 $74 $70 $108 $240 $150 $156 $798
FY 22 $315 $180 $115 $15 $182 $102 $102 $54 $254 $192 $162 $294 $1,967
FY 21 $25 $50 $0 $95 $15 $0 $15 $50 $40 $190 $25 $135 $640
FY 20 $465 $395 $360 $605 $330 $390 $295 $310 $150 $0 $0 $80 $3,380
YTD 74 144 252 492 642 798 0 0 0 0 0 0 798

23.49% 29.09% 41.31% 78.72% 79.55% 87.79% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

23.49% 38.89% 93.91% 1600.00% 82.42% 152.94% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Year-to-Date Comparison compares the cumulative year to date figures against the same time period in the previous year.
Monthly Comparison compares the current month of the current year against the same month in the previous year.

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

YTD COMPARISON

MONTHLY COMPARISON

V.           	Museum Attendance

Attendance Page 10 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Museum Attendance Narrative:  

The NHS is open to the public with limited hours due to the limited staff, docents, and volunteers.  The NHS Research Library is open by 
appointment Wednesday-Friday from 12:00 to 4:00. The Museum Gallery is open to the public Wednesday-Friday 10:00 AM to 4:00 PM. 66 
library  visitors*,  605 gallery visitors, we had 175 students and 18 adults for school tours this quarter.

In August the Research Library closed from Aug- Oct due to a leak in collections storage. The Research Library was used for collections triage 
and conservation.

Bill Fong’s New China Club presentation 
with Sarah Patton, NHS Archivist

Attendance Page 11 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

VI.   Fundraising Activities:  

Our docent volunteer hours: October 610.5, November 477.0, December 581.5
A high school intern returned for a second internship: 8 hours
A UNR Student interned: 22 hours
Total volunteer hours donated this quarter:  1699 hours
Total value of donated time:  $50,885.50*
* based on accepted rate of $29.95/hour   

Catherine continues to work on a Friends of NHS fundraising group

Fund Raising Page 12 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

VII    General Museum Activities

Events:
October 2022
6th 10-11:30 am—Docent Council Lecture—Janet Phillips, Tahoe Pyramid Trail: Following the Truckee River.  Live program.
20th 12-1:30 pm—High Noon—Dana Toth—Promoting the Significance of North Central Nevada History Within a Museum and a Community. Virtual 
Program. 
26th 5-6:30 pm—Society on Display—Catherine Magee, Reflections on Geography, NAC Geographic Divides exhibit.  Live program and reception.

November  2022
3rd 10-11:30 am—Docent Council Lecture—Catherine Magee, Implicit Illicit to Visible Vice, the history of brothel prostitution.  Live program.
17th 12-1:30 pm—High Noon—Frank X. Mullen Jr.—Fake News: Twain, DeQuille, hoaxes and tall tales in Comstock newspapers. Virtual and streaming at 
NHS.  

December 2022
1st 10-11:30 am—Docent Council Lecture—Myron Freedman, The Carson City State Museum and its ties to the NHS.  Live program.
1st 5:30-7:30 pm—Nevada History Lecture—Richard Dorman, The Last Horse-drawn Mail Stage Robbery: A Forgotten Tale of Robbery and Murder in 
Jarbidge, NV 1916.  Live program. 
15th 12-1:30 pm—High Noon—Karen Burns, Backstage Pass:  Behind the Scenes & Seams, When Hollywood Came to Reno!  Virtual and streaming at NHS.

Interesting tours, and public outreach
October
Shery was on the panel to select the artist for Governor Sisolak's official portrait.
Catherine gave a talk at the NHS to Chapter Q P.E.O. about the NHS Docent Council history and the Thomas collection.

November
Shery gave a presentation about Eight Women in Nevada’s History, to the Women's luncheon for the Grand Lodge of Nevada.

December
Sarah Patton gave a Genealogical resources at the NHS presentation to TMCC Open Genealogy Lab participants.

General Museum Activities Page 13 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

Daily operations
The NHS Team completed a Strategic Plan for 2023-2028.
Tiffany Jones joined the NHS team as the Administrative Assistant and Sote Manager in October. NHS now has five of seven permanent staff. 

Magee and Brastoff are working closely with Anna Camp on NAGPRA and repatriation issues. 165 total hours spent on NAGPRA this quarter. 

In August, there was a roof leak in collections storage that damaged collections (blue prints, aeronautical engineering drawings, maps, prints, and one 
object), loss of archival storage materials estimated at $10,000.00 replacement cost.  On December 12,2022, the leak reoccurred in the same location just as 
the drywall and painting was being completed.  

State Public Works Division Project Managers for Buildings and Roof systems assessed the situation and determined the leaks are due to failing
exterior stucco and not the roof.  For the complete repair of the four walls of the exterior stucco system, damaged plywood and interior drywall, the NHS will 
have to  move all collections out  from the Collections Storage facility into a temporary storage facility. This represent approximately 95% of NHS collections.

A conservative estimate for the collections move is over 5 million dollars and will require years of advance planning and may result in the NHS having to close 
to public.  

The repair of the north wall of the collections storage facility is needed immediately, and State Public Works Division Project Managers Marc Burgess had 
Catherine Magee put in an insurance claim to Risk Management for the repair.  This claim is currently being assessed. 

Sarah manages the Research Library and appointments with assistance from Shery to oversee the room  when Sarah is in the stacks.
Debra, Shery, Sarah, and Catherine continue to process collections and answer research questions.
Shery continues her good work works with Department of Tourism with social media the NHS website.
Tiffany took over management of the  museum store and is now on the Online Store committee.  She provides administrative support to NHS docents, NHS 
and DMH staff for financial reporting, purchasing, membership, and the museum among other duties.
Catherine continues being the Managing editor for the Nevada Historical Society Q.
Catherine continues to function as the Curator of Education, booking school tours, managing docents, and interns.

General Museum Activities Page 14 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

 and 24

X.  NHS Quarterly

The 2022 Nevada Historical Society Quarterly (NHSQ) combined issue is in production with William Rowley as the contract  Editor-in-Chief.

The NHSQ is on track to become a hybrid digital/print publication for calendar year 2023.  Magee made corrections to the contract for Johns Hopkins 
University hosting  the NHSQ on Project Muse.

Project MUSE will provide the online access for paid subscriptions to NHSQ and the "best of" end of year NHSQ will be printed and sent to subscribers once a 
year. 

Nevada Historical Society Q Page 15 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

XI.  Mission Statement

The Nevada Historical Society was founded in 1904
Mission
The Nevada Historical Society collects and preserves our state’s cultural heritage to make it accessible to everyone through education, research, and 
exhibitions about the people, places, and events that shape Nevada.   

Vision
The Nevada Historical Society encourages the spirit of discovery and pursuit of knowledge to enrich lives through history.

We strive to be: 
• A diverse and inclusive educational institution that reflects the histories of all Nevadans 
• A valuable resource that illuminates our past, connects us to the present, and inspires us for the future 
• An accessible destination for education, research, and public programs

Mission Statement Page 16 of 17



Nevada Historical Society
Report to the Board
March 9, 2023

XII.  Current Operations

The NHS is open to the public and by appointment Wednesdays, Thursdays, and Fridays 10 AM to 4 PM .  The Research Library is open by appointment 
Wednesdays, Thursdays, and Fridays from 12PM to 4PM.  The staff hours are from 7:30 AM to 5:30 PM Monday through Friday.

Catherine Magee, Director
February 15, 2023

Current Operations Page 17 of 17




























	000 BMH Meeting Agenda  March 9 2023 FINAL
	8a12.8 SUMMARY_12-8-2022 Board Meeting
	8a12.9 SUMMARY_12.9.2022 Board Meeting r
	8b  MINUTES_ 2-9-23 Membership Committee Meeting
	10a BMH Staff Report - March 2023 Final
	13a BMH Deaccession Policy DRAFT 4
	13b  Museum Loan Policy_DRAFT CM comments_2022-11-29
	13c1 BMH Membership Policy 2020
	13c2 Recommended Edits to BMH Membership Policy 2007 updated 2019 (002)
	Board of Museums & History Membership Policy
	Overview
	Categories of Membership
	Membership Benefits
	Nevada State Railroad Museum-Carson City & Boulder City
	Review

	14a1 Fundraiser Train Agreement Draft
	Deputy Director
	Governor


	14a2 NSRM Fee Recomendations FY23
	2020 Fee Schedule--RR

	14b2  IFC Report
	Report for 381.00333b

	14c2 CONTRACT WEB 2 MARKET
	BMH Web 2 Market
	Division of Museums and History - WEB 2 Market sig page

	15a LCM Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	15a LCM Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	Cover Page
	Budget Summary
	Museum Store
	Membership Program
	Attendance
	Fund Raising
	General Museum Activities


	15a1 LCM March 2023 free admissio requests
	15a2 LCM  march 2023 donation docs
	15b NSMLV Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	15b NSMLV Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	Cover Page
	Budget Summary
	Museum Store
	Membership Program
	Attendance
	Fund Raising
	General Museum Activities


	15c NSMCC Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	15c NSMCC Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	Cover Page
	Budget Summary
	Museum Store
	Membership Program
	Attendance
	Fund Raising
	General Museum Activities


	15c1 NSMCC CONTRACT CUSTOM SIGN SERVICE
	15c2 NSM Science Festival Request
	15c3 NSMCC board report donation memo_cjohnson education_020323_Redacted
	Memo
	Date:       February 3, 2023
	To:  Robert Stoldal, Chairman
	Board of Museums & History
	From:  Josh Bonde, Director
	Nevada State Museum – Carson City
	Re:  New Restricted Donation
	Approval:  ____________________________________      _____________________
	Chairman, Board of Museums & History                  Date

	15c4 NSMCC Annual Appeal board report donation memo 022423
	15c4 NSMCC Annual Appeal board report donation memo 022423
	Memo
	Date:       February 27, 2023
	To:  Robert Stoldal, Chairman
	Board of Museums & History
	From:  Josh Bonde, Director
	Nevada State Museum – Carson City
	Re:  New Restricted Donations
	Approval:  ____________________________________      _____________________
	Chairman, Board of Museums & History                  Date

	15c4c Check Batch

	15d NSRMEE Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	15d NSRMEE Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	Cover Page
	Budget Summary
	Attendance
	Fund Raising
	General Museum Activities


	15e NSRMBC Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	15e NSRMBC Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	Cover Page
	Budget Summary
	Museum Store
	Membership Program
	Attendance
	General Museum Activities
	Fund Raising


	15f NSRMCC Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	15f NSRMCC Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	15f NSRMCC Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	Cover Page
	Budget Summary
	Museum Store
	Membership Program
	Attendance
	General Museum Activities
	Fund Raising


	15f NSRMCC Board Report images 3_2023 FINAL

	15f1 NSRMCC CONTRACT  4CONCRETE
	BMH 4Concrete LLC
	BMH 4Concrete LLC
	ATTACHMENT AA

	2023-02-24_Contract

	15f2 NSRMCC Forklift Request
	Date:       February 24, 2023
	To:  Robert Stoldal, Chair, Board of Museums and History
	From:  Dan Thielen, Museum Director, Nevada State Railroad Museum, CC
	Re:  B/A 5037 Budget Amendment to support equipment purchase
	The Nevada State Railroad Museum requests authority to use funding from BA 5037 CAT 55-01 for the purchase of a replacement forklift. Revenues from admissions and train rides are exceeding our budgeted amount and we have a tremendous opportunity to ta...
	We sought one-shot funding through the State but were denied.
	Approved:   _____________________ ___________ _____________
	Chair, Board of Museums and History  Date

	15f3 NSRMCC Jones Trust donation 2023
	15g NHS Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	15g NHS Board Report 03 2023 FINAL
	Cover Page
	Budget Summary
	Museum Store
	Membership Program
	Attendance
	Fund Raising
	General Museum Activities
	Nevada Historical Society Q
	Mission Statement
	Current Operations


	15g1 NHS CONTRACT HERZ



